
Annual Report  
2021



2 3Diakonia Annual Report 2021

BRAVE PEOPLE TAKE 
THE FIGHT ONWARDS
We went into 2021 thinking we were leaving a 
pandemic behind, but it turned out that COVID-19 
would continue to affect everything. Poverty has 
continued to increase worldwide as a consequence 
of the global crisis caused by the pandemic. It has 
also accelerated the decline of democracy in the 
world. In many countries, organizing and resisting 
has become more difficult, in some places even 
life-threatening. In this context, Diakonia’s staff 
and partner organizations have demonstrated a 
remarkable capacity to transform and adapt their 
work. The courage we see in those who dare to 
stand up for human rights is extremely admirable.  

The world needs more brave people to stand 
up for justice. When I worked for Diakonia in 
Paraguay, I saw the amazing capacity of young 
people to create change. That’s why I feel very 
confident about the future when I think about 
how, in many places, young people are leading 
the fight. On new platforms, such as social media, 
they are reaching out, passing on knowledge 
and mobilising. I also think about how youth 
movements in Honduras organized themselves 
prior to the November 2021 elections. Not just to 
increase voter turnout, but to ensure that everyone 
who votes makes a conscious and informed choice. 
And it paid off. In a country in which almost half 
of all those entitled to vote are under 35, it was 
the young who decided the election. You can read 
more about the first-time voters who helped make 
history on page 22.

The fight for a just, equal and sustainable world 
has never been more important. This is why I’m 
particularly proud that in 2021, we developed a 
new policy on gender equality. All over the world, 
women’s rights organizations are advancing the 

cause of gender equality. During the year, we 
have taken important steps towards becoming an 
even stronger ally to these organizations. We are 
fighting against destructive patriarchal structures 
in society, but also in our own work. For this 
reason, we have worked internally to strengthen 
our own capacity to constantly work on the 
basis of a feminist analysis. Read more about our 
sustainability work on page 48.

We’re living in dark times. But I want us to see the 
glimmers of light that exist. In my view, they provide 
hope and inspiration. When many of us move from 
words to action together, with a rock-solid belief 
that people can make a difference, we change the 
world. Read about all the key achievements in the 
Annual Report that show this is possible.  

At Diakonia, we continue to believe that the 
world can be changed. I approach each new day 
with energy and open eyes, and with the strong 
conviction that solidarity, courage and cooperation 
are the way forward. 

Lena Ingelstam
Secretary General
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Working for inclusion. The disability rights programme is changing society.

Prevented child marriage. In Bangladesh, we are 
working to boost the rights of girls and women.

Photo: Diakonia

Conveying knowledge. Sexual and reproductive 
health radio programmes reach young people.
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Diakonia’s mission is to change unfair 
structures – political, economic, social and 
cultural – that generate poverty, oppression 
and injustice. Together with people around 
the world, we come up with intelligent and 
sustainable solutions to the world’s big 
problems.

Our values are solidarity, justice, 
courage, commitment and responsibility.

Our vision is a  
just, equal and 
sustainable  
world

390
Total number of initiatives in 2021

The UN Sustainable Development Goals 
have been developed in partnership with 
the countries of the world. There are 
17 goals aiming to achieve four things 
by 2030: eradicating extreme poverty, 
reducing inequalities and injustice in the 
world, promoting peace and justice and 
solving the climate crisis.

Diakonia’s work in 2021 has mainly 
contributed to the Sustainable Development 
Goals 1, 2, 5, 8, 10, 13, 16 and 17. Read more 
in the Sustainability Report on page 48.

How we work
Change can happen when people become aware of their rights and join forces 
to demand that rights are respected. Our extensive experience, presence and the 
fact that we are firmly established in 26 countries sees Diakonia working with 
individuals and organizations to change the world.

Diakonia is a development organization based 
on Christian values and a firm conviction that 
all people are of equal worth. Nobody, whether 
an individual or a state, has the right to violate 
another person’s human rights. That is why our 
vision is a just, equal and sustainable world. 

Our founding churches are the Swedish Alliance 
Mission and the Uniting Church in Sweden. On their 
behalf, we fight for people’s right to a dignified life 
and to create fair social structures. 

To achieve our goals, we have two main 
guidelines we work to: Diakonia’s feminist principles 
and a rights-based perspective.

Feminism is the way forward
All our work must be based on a feminist 
analysis, because we will not achieve real justice 
without gender equality. Diakonia wants all 
people, regardless of gender identity and sexual 
orientation, to have the power, knowledge and 
opportunity to participate in shaping their own 
lives and the society in which they live. 

But the world is still unfairly divided on the basis 
of sex and gender. All over the world, it is girls, 
women and LGBTQI people who are most affected 
by poverty and oppression. This is why all our work 
must contribute to gender equality.

Flor Alvarado and her daughter Yosaris Fabiola are involved in a farming project in Honduras, where we work with the organization CASM 
to help families become self-sufficient. Photo: Sean Hawkey

1%
Information and 

training

6%
Humanitarian work/

disaster relief

93%
Work on democracy, human rights  

and gender equality

Diakonia’s operational  
expenses in 2021

SEK 421  
million
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At the heart of  
Diakonia’s work is  

our theory of change.  
It consists of three  

main parts: 

Knowledge
We know that it is people who are 

changing the world. But people 
need to know their rights, and know 
the reasons why they are not being 

fulfilled, in order to claim them.

Mobilisation
To challenge the destructive 

structures, we need to work together. 
It is when people come together and 
demand their rights that change can 

take place.

Action
Our goal is long-term change. This 
needs to take place both in formal 

contexts, for example through 
legislative changes, and by changing 

social norms and structures.

Human rights, democracy and gender equality 
are our focus areas
Our experience and expertise tell us that this is 
the key to eradicating poverty, inequality and 
oppression. All our work must be anchored in these 
interconnected areas.

We work with civil society organizations, social 
movements and other strong agents of change.

But reality is complex. We need to have an in-
depth understanding of how contexts and problems 
interact in order to find solutions to the world’s 
biggest challenges. This is why we have established 
country offices in 23 countries in which Diakonia 
has a presence and operations. We work with 
around 400 local organizations. We work together 
to analyse the problems and opportunities that 
people face, enabling us to adapt our operations to 
local conditions. All our work takes a rights-based 
approach, whether it is conducted at national or at 
global level. 

To change structures that create poverty and 
injustice, we work with opinion building and 
advocacy, through our partner organizations 
around the world and in Sweden. We inform 
and mobilise the public against politicians and 
other people in positions of power. Our work is a 
long-term commitment, and we always base our 
opinions on facts and knowledge.

Photo: Chris Cusick

Challenges and lessons 
learned in 2021
Our work was carried out in difficult contexts 
The year 2021 was defined by the COVID-19 
pandemic, which affected everything. Lockdowns 
and travel restrictions have forced us to work in 
other ways, with fewer opportunities to meet our 
partners and rights holders.  

Extreme poverty in the world has increased as a 
result of the pandemic. In addition, democracy is in 
global decline, which means that the space for civil 
society is shrinking. The creativity of the partner 
organizations and rights holders to continue the 
work under these circumstances is admirable. 

What we did in 2021  
Our work for human rights, democracy and gender 
equality is more important than ever. We have 
a new global strategy and country strategies to 
guide our work. We work on the basis of feminist 
principles, because we know that girls, women 
and LGBTQI people are particularly affected 
by poverty, injustice and oppression. But above 

all because it is the feminist and women’s rights 
organizations that propel societies forward 
towards greater gender equality. We have adapted 
programmes when the situation has required it, for 
example due to the political situation in the country 
or the spread of COVID-19. 

What we learned
Our lessons from 2021 are that our internal 
procedures need to be adapted so that we can 
be more flexible. In order to operate in changing 
contexts, we need to be able to quickly shift 
the focus of our programmes. We need to be 
even better at preventing risks and countering 
corruption. We need to have solid security 
procedures for our own staff and for our partner 
organizations. During the pandemic, we have 
learned to work and monitor our activities digitally. 
We will take the positive experiences with us and 
build on them. In this way, we can reduce travel 
and take responsibility for our carbon footprint.  

12-year-old Hanaa was born and raised in a refugee camp in 
Lebanon. Every day she comes to the Najdeh centre that Diakonia 
supports, where children take part in activities such as dancing, 
games and language studies. Photo: João Sousa
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176Where you  
can find us
Together with people in 26  
countries, we come up with  
intelligent and sustainable solutions  
to the world’s big problems.

1. Bangladesh
2. Bolivia
3. Burkina Faso
4. Colombia
5. Democratic Republic of the Congo
6. Egypt
7. Guatemala
8. Honduras
9. Cambodia
10. Kenya
11. Cuba
12. Lebanon
13. Mali
14. Mozambique
15. Myanmar
16. Nicaragua (country office closed at the end of 2021)
17. Palestine and Israel
18. Paraguay
19. Peru
20. Somalia
21. Sri Lanka 
22. Sweden (Head Office)
23. Thailand
24. Uganda
25. Zambia
26. Zimbabwe

Programme

Regional and 

country offices

Country 

office
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OUR WORK IN 
SWEDEN
In Sweden, Diakonia works to raise awareness of and generate 
greater commitment to international solidarity and justice, 
including through campaigns and publications. Our advocacy 
work is also conducted from Sweden. 

One percent who are 
changing the world
Ahead of the 2022 parliamentary elections in 
Sweden, several political parties want to make 
major cuts in development assistance. So in 
October, we launched the One Percent for 
the World campaign to highlight the negative 
consequences of reduced development assistance. 
Today, Sweden uses one percent of its gross 
national income (GNI) for development assistance. 
Through our campaign, we wanted to raise public 
awareness of development assistance and increase 
commitment to maintaining the one-percent level.  

In the social media ads, people were faced with 
a choice between two rights – for example, access 
to clean water or the possibility of healthcare if 
you fall ill. With this difficult choice, we wanted to 
show that what is self-evident for us is what risks 
being lost in other parts of the world if we cut back 
on development assistance. The campaign also 
included a quiz with questions about the state of 
the world. 276,000 people were reached by the 
social media campaign, and 19,200 people took 
part in the quiz.

The world’s important issues  
in a new podcast
Diakonia are experts on development 
cooperation issues. To raise awareness of our 
issues and reach more people, we launched 
our podcast Angeläget (Urgent) in February. 
In it, we address current and important topics 
related to development cooperation and 
development in the form of interviews, columns 
and reflections. We set out the situation as it 
stands today and indicate ways we can have 
an impact on the inequalities in the world. 
During the year, six episodes of the podcast 
were released, attracting 800 listeners. The 
episodes have covered subjects such as tax 
avoidance, disaster prevention and refugees.
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Success for fair taxation
Fair taxation is a key issue for the development 
of poor countries. This is why we have long 
been advocating what is known as country-by-
country reporting. This means that multinational 
companies should transparently declare their 
profits and taxes in each country in which they 
operate. In June, we achieved success in our 
work when EU Member States agreed on a new 
regulatory framework based on this principle. 
While Sweden voted against the directive, a 
majority of EU countries were in favour. Diakonia 
has not been able to change Sweden’s public 
attitude, but we have generated debate, 
engagement and awareness of the issue in the 
Swedish Parliament. We have also been able 
to put pressure on the Swedish Government to 
defend and explain its position publicly and in 
the media. After pressure from opponents of the 
framework, including Sweden, restrictions were 

introduced that watered down the requirements 
for companies. But the new framework should still 
be seen as an important, if small, step in the right 
direction.

During the year, we have also worked to 
strengthen support for Swedish development 
cooperation. There are loud voices in the 
parliament in favour of cuts in development 
assistance, including from two of the main 
parties. By generating debate, highlighting 
facts and analysis on development cooperation 
and demonstrating the negative effects of cuts, 
we have garnered public support for stable 
development assistance. This has included 
renewed promises from several parliamentary 
parties that they are in favour of maintaining the 
current level of development assistance at one 
percent. Until the 2022 parliamentary elections, 
this will be our top priority in terms of advocacy.

Photo: João Sousa

Engaging challenges for children
In 2021, we launched a new concept to talk to 
children about justice, faith and the future. The 
Children’s think tank Challenge offers a number 
of challenges suitable for children aged 8–12. 
The challenges encourage children and leaders 
to have discussions while using their brains and 
competing. The aim is to raise awareness and 
commitment to human rights and the 2030 
Agenda. So each challenge has a clear link to one 
of the Sustainable Development Goals and to the 
work of Diakonia. 

Since the launch in May, 30 different associations 
have carried out challenges, and around 300 
children have participated. In 2022, we will 
continue to develop the concept and create new 
challenges.

The Children’s think tank Challenge has been 
developed with the youth organizations of our 
founding churches, the Youth of the Uniting 
Church in Sweden and the Swedish Alliance 
Mission.

Photo: Gustav Hugosson

Musikhjälpen travelled  
with Diakonia to Lebanon
The theme of this year’s edition of the Musikhjälpen 
fundraising campaign was A world without child 
labour. Musikhjälpen reporter Tina Merhafzoon 
travelled to Lebanon to report from Diakonia’s 
children’s rights project. There, she met staff from 
Diakonia’s office and interviewed several of the 
children participating in the project.

In the refugee camps in Lebanon, thousands of 
children live in terrible conditions. Few have the 
opportunity to go to school, and many are forced 
to work instead. At the children’s rights project 

centre, they receive basic schooling and the 
opportunity to visit a psychologist, and they learn 
about their rights. 

Musikhjälpen is Swedish public service television 
SVT’s and the charity Radiohjälpen’s annual 
fundraising event, which highlights and raises 
money for a chosen theme during one week in 
December. This year’s campaign raised over SEK 
54 million. The money will be distributed among 
various development organizations working to 
counter child labour.
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OUR GLOBAL 
WORK
Diakonia works with development cooperation in 25 countries in 
Africa, Latin America, Asia and the Middle East/North Africa. 
In 2021, we worked with around 400 local organizations to 
support smart, long-term solutions. 

“I see myself as a fighter and a mother. I have fought for my right to education, I can drive a car and I have a family that I take care of,” 
says Rudaina. Photo: Nidal Mohammad Hassan/Fairpicture

30 years of human rights 
for all
For thirty years, Diakonia has been working in Palestine alongside people with 
disabilities. Tens of thousands of people have taken part in the programme, which 
aims to reinforce rights and create a more inclusive society. 

Palestine. The Disability Rights Programme, which 
Diakonia started thirty years ago, has made a 
difference. The programme has contributed to the 
fact that Palestine now has a national strategy 
for people with disabilities, schools have national 
guidelines for inclusive education and there is 
now a law protecting the rights of people with 
disabilities. 

The programme started at a chaotic time just 
after Palestine’s first major uprising against Israel. 
Many Palestinians had been injured in the war and 
needed urgent help. At the same time, they were not 
protected under Israeli law. Initially, the programme 
focused on the acute phase of rehabilitation and 
care. But the biggest challenges for people living 
with disabilities are not their physical or mental 
condition, but the attitudes and structures of soci-
ety. People with disabilities are often isolated and 
excluded from society. Because many people with 
disabilities lack access to education, literacy rates 
are low. Disability is therefore directly linked to pov-
erty.

We soon moved on to working with a more 
rights-based approach to increase inclusion and 
raise awareness in society. Human rights are the 

starting point for all our work.
For Rudaina Abu Jarrad, the programme has 

changed her life. When she was two years old, she 
contracted polio. Since then, she has been unable 
to walk and needs to use a wheelchair. Rudaina 
has experienced discrimination, both as a child and 
as an adult. 

“Getting out into society was a challenge, as 
was getting a job. Being a woman with a disability 
is a double stigma.”

Today, she works to promote the inclusion of 
disabled people in schools and universities and 
their right to health, education and to support 
themselves financially. She wants to create better 
conditions for people living with disabilities.

People who previously did not have a voice have 
now started to challenge stereotypes and take their 
place in society. Since the programme started, 
more people with disabilities have become involved 
in local decision-making. 

The programme has increased respect for human 
rights, created a democratic culture and changed 
the lives of the tens of thousands of people who 
have participated.
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SETBACKS AND SUCCESSES FOR GENDER 
EQUALITY
Without gender justice, there is no real 
democracy, no human rights and no 
development. This is why all our work should 
contribute to genuine and inclusive gender 
equality. 

In 2021, COVID-19 continued to pose 
challenges to gender equality worldwide. The 
increasing poverty to which the pandemic 
has contributed hits girls and women hardest. 
As schools begin to reopen, it is the girls who 
risk not coming back. Gender equality is also 
threatened by the decline in democracy, as 
authoritarian leaders introduce laws that 
discriminate against women and LGBTQI 
people. But the year also highlighted the 

importance of women’s leadership, with many 
women-led organizations at the forefront of 
the fight for democracy around the world. 
In several countries, the number of women 
in parliament increased in 2021, and we are 
seeing more examples of transgender people 
in high political positions. 

Diakonia works with organizations around 
the world to challenge patriarchal structures 
so that all people, regardless of gender 
identity or sexual orientation, have the power 
to influence their own lives. A feminist analysis 
of power and injustice is needed to attain 
lasting change.

A new life after years  
of violence
Lebanon. For 30 years, Shokran lived with a 
violent man who abused her. 

“I knew from the start that the violence was 
wrong, but I was afraid of losing my children and 
getting a bad reputation if I left him,” she says. 

She came into contact with Diakonia’s partner 
Abaad, which offers support and legal assistance 
to women who are victims of violence. After a 
year of counselling, she had built up the courage 
to leave her husband and file for divorce. Today, 
she and her eight children live on their own. Her 
two eldest children work and support the family.
Shokran dropped out of school after her fifth year 
there, got married at 13 and has never had a job. 
Her ex-husband used to say that she was good for 
nothing, and for a long time she thought he was 
right. But now Shokran dreams of starting her own 
business.

“I want him and the whole world to know that a 

woman can do and say what she wants. I want to 
start my own cafe, just for women. My husband 
wouldn’t even let me drink coffee,” she says.
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Antara stopped her child 
marriage
In a difficult financial situation, 15-year-old Antara’s father planned to marry her 
off. With the help of Diakonia and our partner, she was able to prevent her own 
marriage – now she wants to help other girls.

Bangladesh. Bangladesh has one of the highest 
rates of child marriage in the world. More than half 
of all girls are married off before the age of 18. In 
the Baroma area, the level of poverty is high and 
the coronavirus pandemic has hit the inhabitants 
hard. From one day to the next, families were left 
with no income whatsoever. 

Fifteen-year-old Antara Dev lives there. Since 
her mother passed away three years ago, her 
family consists of her father Shymol Dev and 
two younger sisters. The society Antara lives in is 
strongly influenced by religion and a conservative 
view of women. As a result, many girls never get the 
chance to receive an education. 

Diakonia runs youth groups there with its partner 
OWDEB (Organization for Women’s Development 
in Bangladesh). The groups, which meet regularly, 
hold training sessions and workshops on gender 
equality, child marriage and women’s rights. 

Antara got in touch with the project and started 
attending meetings. Soon she was appointed 
chairperson of the local group. 

Antara’s father Shymol is a farmer, and when 
the pandemic struck, he could no longer support 
the family. In 2021, the financial situation became 
so difficult that he saw no other way out than to 
marry Antara off. 

Empowered by the education she had received 
in the youth group and well aware of the negative 
consequences of child marriage, Antara turned to 
the organization for support. Representatives from 
the group made a home visit to talk to Antara’s 
father and persuade him to stop the marriage. 
They explained that child marriage is both illegal 
and destroys a girl’s life. 

Antara’s father realised his mistake, cried and 
asked for forgiveness. The desperate financial 
situation had pressured him to marry off his 

daughter. But when he became aware of the 
consequences of his plans, he realised that 
education was the right path for Antara.

“I could have ruined my daughter’s life. I won’t 
be doing this again with my other daughters. If 
Antara gets a higher education, I’ll feel proud,” 
says Shymol.

Antara’s mother was 14 when she gave birth to 
Antara, and she was never allowed to go to school. 
But Antara was able to break with the dangerous 
tradition and change her life. She will continue 
studying. Now she wants to help other girls in the 
same situation:

“I want to become a teacher or a social worker 
and continue working for girls’ right to education. 
Many women do not know their rights. I want them 
to become aware, I want to help them.”

“I’ve been given a new life – I don’t have to get married,” says 
Antara. Photo: Diakonia 
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Radio programme 
against child marriage 
Mozambique. Child marriage and early 
pregnancy are huge problems in Mozambique. 
Poverty, low levels of education and cultural 
traditions mean that nearly half of all girls are 
married off before they turn 18. That’s why 
Diakonia works there with the organization NANA 
in projects that spread knowledge and awareness. 
Through clubs in schools, young people meet and 
learn more about issues such as child marriage, 
sexual harassment and gender-based violence. 
They are also made aware of their rights and 
given practical information on where to go for 
healthcare and advice.

When the coronavirus pandemic began, schools 
closed. This meant that the school clubs could no 
longer continue their activities and young people 
lost out on important information. Together with 
our partner organization NANA, we were able to 

redesign the activities of the clubs. In order to 
continue reaching out to young people, a radio 
programme was launched. The young people 
involved in the project were trained in radio 
production techniques and tools. 

The importance of the radio programme 
for young people in the area cannot be 
underestimated. One obvious result is that the 
number of teenage pregnancies in the area 
decreased in 2021.

18-year-old Solidência Armando Mussilipo makes radio  
broadcasts. Photo: Diakonia

THE DEFENDERS OF DEMOCRACY NEED 
OUR SUPPORT
Democracy is in global decline. Two thirds 
of the world’s population now live in non-
democracies, and the coronavirus pandemic 
has not improved the situation. Under the 
pretext of stopping the spread of disease, 
many governments have been able to impose 
disproportionate restrictions – restrictions that 
suppress resistance and curtail democratic 
rights, such as unreasonable surveillance 
and severely restricted freedom of movement 
and assembly. The consequences of this will 
remain long after the pandemic has subsided.

At the same time, the situation for those 
who defend democracy and human rights 
has become increasingly dangerous – in 
some countries even life-threatening. Laws 
restricting rights have become more common, 
and some countries have made it illegal to 

criticise the government.
Poverty and economic inequality have 

increased in the world. When those in power 
fail to meet basic needs, confidence in 
democratic institutions is weakened. 

But despite all the setbacks, there are many 
positive examples. Despite the pandemic, it 
was possible for several democratic elections 
to be held in 2021. Movements and protests 
have been able to bring about real change. 
Many civil society organizations have been 
able to grow and become strong despite 
strong opposition. Democracy is inherently 
resilient, but we must not take it for granted. 
That is why it is now more important than ever 
that we support those who defend it. The need 
for global leadership regarding democracy 
and solidarity is urgent.

Dialogue for peaceful  
conflict resolution
In Democratic Republic of the Congo, corporate exploitation of natural resources 
has led to the displacement of local people from their land. Diakonia’s partners set 
up local groups to make people aware of their rights and ensure that the land was 
returned to the community.

Democratic Republic of the Congo. The Kongo 
Central province is an industrially rich area. 
There, multiple companies have set up operations 
to extract limestone, oil and rubber. But the 
consequence is that the local population has been 
driven off its land. Many communities have taken 
legal action to recover their land. But corruption is 
rife in the region, and the big companies are often 
protected by Congolese politicians. As a result, few 
land conflicts have been resolved.

As agriculture is the main source of income in 
the area, loss of land means loss of income, and 
poverty has increased. The seizure of land has led 
to conflicts – between farmers and companies, but 
also between different local communities, which 
have to fight over an ever-smaller piece of land. 

CRONGD-KC, Diakonia’s partner organization, 
set up local committees to protect the interests 
of small communities. The committees are made 
up of representatives from government agencies, 
business, religious groups, civil society and local 
communities. The aim is to investigate and resolve 
recurring conflicts, establish dialogue and find 
solutions, without going to court. The organization 
held local meetings at which they explained the 
consequences of land confiscation and the purpose 
of the committees. More people became aware of 
the committees and of the fact that there was an 
opportunity to make a difference. By taking back 
their rights, communities are in turn more willing to 
defend the interests of companies, and there are 
fewer costly and protracted court cases.

As a result, 543 hectares of land were returned 
from companies to 34 different local communities. 
The village of Fubu was now able to accommodate 
a school, so that the schoolchildren in the village 
didn’t have to travel long distances every day. 

The community of Tses Ntinu was able to house a 
cemetery that had previously been lacking. And 
money that would otherwise have been spent on 
trials and court cases could instead be invested in 
schools, healthcare and food. 

Peaceful solutions to land conflicts have proven 
to be more effective. Our project gave small 
communities a voice they didn’t have before, but 
also an opportunity to save money. Businesses and 
government agencies now better understand the 
needs and rights of local people. And those who live 
there have better knowledge of their rights, the laws 
that govern businesses and the responsibilities of 
government agencies.

Photo: Giuseppe Cioffo/EurAc
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Support for demonstrators 
Colombia. In April, large protests broke out after 
the president proposed a tax increase on basic 
goods such as water and electricity. Tens of 
thousands of people took to the streets and were 
met with police brutality. Diakonia supported the 
Defender la libertad (Defend Freedom) campaign, 
which supported protesters and documented 
police abuses. Over 7,600 cases of physical 
violence, manslaughter, sexual violence, unlawful 
detention and other human rights violations were 
reported. The campaign also offered legal and 
psychological support to protesters.  
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Human rights award celebrates its tenth  
anniversary
Colombia. For the tenth consecutive year, 
Diakonia, together with Act Church of Sweden, 
presented an award for the defence of human 
rights in Colombia. 2021 has been a year of crisis 
in Colombia. The huge street protests that took 
place in April and May were met with excessive 
force by the military. At the same time, the 
pandemic has increased poverty and inequality in 
the country, and the lack of a functioning justice 
system has become increasingly evident.

Luz Marina Becerra Panesso, who received the 
Human Rights Defender of the Year award, said in 
her acceptance speech that she is continuing her 
fight to ensure that future generations don’t have to 
live in fear.

“I want them to be able to choose to study instead 
of taking up arms. I want a country where we can 
embrace each other, where peace flourishes.”

Several of the winners pointed out the 
importance of international organizations and 
actors giving visibility to the situation of human 
rights defenders and legitimising their work.

“Diakonia supports people who are changing 
the world. This year’s winners have continued 
their important work despite the challenges of 
the current crisis. The award is a way for us as an 
international organization to show that human 
rights defenders have our full support,” said 
Ulrika Urey, Diakonia’s Regional Director for Latin 
America, when she presented one of the awards.
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Meeting across generations provides 
strength for the struggle
Bolivia. Diakonia works with CEJIS (Centro 
de Estudios Jurídicos e Investigación Social) 
to strengthen the legal and social rights of 
indigenous peoples. The aim is to empower the 
most vulnerable in society, increase participation 
in democracy and promote cultural diversity.

In 2021, a new project was launched with 
intergenerational groups. CEJIS had discovered 
that the older generation of indigenous peoples 
had experiences and a history from which the 
younger generation could benefit. The struggle 
in the 1990s, when indigenous peoples began to 
take a more active role in political processes, led 
to the constitution finally recognising indigenous 
rights. But that history is rarely included in school 
textbooks, and many lessons learned are at risk 
of being lost. In the groups, participants share 
their experiences and thoughts, for example 
about being a woman and indigenous. These have 

proved to be valuable meetings for the continued 
struggle for indigenous rights.

Photo: CEJIS

Spreading knowledge to encourage  
vaccination
Bangladesh. In the inaccessible areas of 
the mountains, where villages are remote 
and communications with towns are almost 
non-existent, Diakonia runs a project with 
the organization BNKS. The project works to 
strengthen women’s rights to reproductive health. 
In the village of Ashur, which is located there, there 
is no electricity, and community services are also 
non-existent. Education levels are low, and many 
people lack knowledge about diseases, maternity 
care and vaccination. Another problem is that 
many people do not speak Bangla, the official 
language of Bangladesh, and are therefore unable 
to get any information from government agencies.

In 2021, when Bangladesh launched its national 
campaign for vaccination against COVID-19, 
Diakonia’s projects were reoriented to raise 
awareness of and promote vaccination.

Residents of Ashur, like in most other rural areas, 
have a much more negative view of vaccination 
than those living in urban areas. The lack of 
healthcare institutions means that people have 
little confidence in the healthcare system. Low 
literacy makes it harder to absorb information.

28-year-old Tumdhan Mro, who lives in Ashur, 
became active in Diakonia’s projects early on. 
Through open meetings in the village, she provided 
information on vaccination. She was also able to 
raise awareness about maternity care and the need 
for check-ups during pregnancy. It was not always 
easy to change people’s attitudes. She countered 
faulty assumptions with facts and science. 

Thanks to her efforts, the vaccination rate in 
the village has risen to 70%. It has also led to more 
women receiving care during pregnancy and 
childbirth. 
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People queue outside a sports arena in Tegucigalpa to attend the inauguration of the country’s first woman president, Xiomara Castro. 
Photo: Sean Hawkey

“I’ll tell my children that  
I was part of history!”
On 28 November 2021, a historic presidential election was held in Honduras, with 
the highest turnout in the country’s history. Young first-time voters were the main 
participants. 

“My vote was a conscious choice for a better country,” says Dulce, who took 
part in Diakonia’s training to increase youth awareness and political participation. 

Honduras. In 2009 the president of Honduras was 
deposed in a coup d’état. Since then, democracy 
has been weak and corruption widespread in the 
country. Recent presidential elections have been 
marred by fraud, with subsequent protests and 
violence against demonstrators. 

Dulce Maria Maldonado, Mary Manchame 
and Riccy Mabel Cáceres have taken part in the 
training to increase youth awareness and political 

participation held by Diakonia's partner OCDIH 
(Organismo Cristiano de Desarrollo Integral de 
Honduras). They belong to a new generation that 
wants to see change. 

Here they tell us about when they voted for the 
first time. 

“We’ve seen how corruption and violence have 
negatively affected our country throughout our 
childhoods. When we finally had the opportunity to 

get involved and effect change, we jumped at the 
chance,” says Riccy. 

“It was so nice to see the long queues and 
so many young people voting. Everything went 
smoothly – it was like a party. We’re doing this out 
of love for our country,” Mary adds. 

Historic turnout
The fact that turnout was the highest in the 
country’s 40-year democratic history is not the 
only unique thing about this year’s elections. 
Honduras also now has its first female president. 

“I felt euphoric when I went to vote. It’s an 
experience I’ll never forget. I’ll tell my children that 
I was part of history!” Riccy says, laughing. 

Dulce and Mary agree. 
They explain how political views are often 

inherited. That young people automatically vote 
for the party their parents have always voted for, 
but that thanks to the course, they have found the 
courage to make their own decisions. 

“I’m hopeful. We young people not only took 
part, but we did so on the basis of knowledge. We 

studied the manifestos and analysed them, and 
based on that we made informed decisions,” says 
Dulce. 

Election observers
The situation for political activists in Honduras is 
difficult, with many being subjected to violence 
and threats of violence. OCDIH was therefore 
careful to support the young people throughout 
the course, especially when they were election 
observers on election day itself. 

“We were a bit worried about being observers, 
but it was very educational. We understood how 
the whole electoral system works. But we saw and 
reported many attempts at cheating as well. For 
example, people who wanted to vote twice,” says 
Mary. 

All three have acquired a keen interest in the 
issues and are now taking part in OCDIH's human 
rights course with young people from all over the 
country. 

“We come from small towns, and sometimes 
you feel alone. So it’s nice and important to meet 
other young people who are also working for 
change. We want to keep on learning,” Mary 
concludes. 

Dulce took part in Honduras’ historic elections. Photo: OCDIH

Photo: Sean Hawkey
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New farming methods broke dependence on 
emergency relief
Kenya. Tiaty is an arid area that has been 
severely affected by both drought and flooding 
in recent years. Due to the harsh climate, the 
people living there have long been dependent 
on humanitarian assistance in the form of food. 
Diakonia, together with Anglican Development 
Services and Christian Impact Mission, launched 
a five-year project there. It aimed to make society 
more resilient to climate change and help people 
be able to support themselves. 

Access to education and other community 
services is low in the area, and 94% of the 
population is illiterate. So there have not been 
many ways to make a living. The area is strongly 
influenced by patriarchal traditions. Women do 
not have the same access to livestock or land to 
cultivate as men. This is why women are worst 
affected by food shortages.

Together with our partners, we have supported 
residents in exploring new ways to secure 
access to food. The aim was to make people 
self-sufficient and to break their dependence 

on humanitarian assistance. We held training 
sessions on cultivation techniques adapted 
to a changing climate and sustainable water 
management. As well as being able to grow their 
own food, participants in the project have also 
been able to grow fruit and vegetables for sale. 

By the end of the project in 2021, 1 565 
households will have been able to make the 
switch. 10 000 people now have a more stable 
water supply and are growing food they can live 
on. More women have been able to take control 
of their livelihoods and thanks to the project, 
many women-led vegetable markets have been 
started in the area. The new income provides an 
opportunity to pay for education or healthcare, 
an opportunity that did not exist before. 

 It has also led to more women receiving care 
during pregnancy and childbirth. But most 
importantly, the people who have participated in 
the project can now live a dignified life, without 
being dependent on humanitarian assistance.

Photo: Diakonia

CLIMATE IS A MATTER OF JUSTICE
Climate change and environmental destruction 
are the greatest individual threats to our world. 
They deprive people of basic human rights such 
as food, water, health, housing and education. 
The most vulnerable are the rural poor, 
especially women and children. According to 
the UN, if you are a woman or a girl, you are 
14 times more likely to die in a natural disaster 
than a man.

All countries in which Diakonia works face 
different challenges from climate change. 
They are also often countries affected by 
political instability or violent conflict. People 
fighting for environmental and land rights or 
protesting against the exploitation of natural 
resources are often subjected to threats, 

persecution or, in the worst cases, murder. 
Diakonia’s work for a sustainable future is 

about justice and supporting intelligent, long-
term solutions. In 2021, we have continued 
to work to empower people and communities 
so that they are better prepared for climate 
change. We have held training sessions in 
climate-smart farming techniques for both 
female and male farmers. We support small-
scale farmers and indigenous peoples in 
claiming land rights, but also in the transition 
to more sustainable methods of water 
management and cultivation. Together with 
our partner organizations, we have made 
communities more resilient to the changes the 
world is undergoing.

Won the struggle for 
the right to a home 
Sri Lanka. A seven-year struggle for the right 
to a home is finally over for Pushpa Ranjani and 
her family. After a landslide destroyed Pushpa’s 
house in 2015, the family was left homeless. They 
were forced to build a small hut on a barren piece 
of land near their old home. But the land was to 
be turned over to a plantation, and Pushpa and 
her family were threatened with eviction. The 
plantation company initiated legal proceedings 
against Pushpa and her husband, and over the 
years of the dispute they have been forced to 
attend 15 court hearings in the district court. It has 
been devastating, not only because of the stress, 
but also financially. The family used to make a 
living by growing and selling vegetables, but since 
their home was destroyed, they no longer have 
any land to grow on and therefore no income.  

Pushpa received legal support from Diakonia 
and our partner LST. We helped her produce 

the necessary documents and evidence. This 
led to her winning the case in 2021. Pushpa and 
her family now have land to settle on and grow 
vegetables.

Photo: Diakonia
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RECORD NUMBER OF PEOPLE IN NEED  
OF HUMANITARIAN ASSISTANCE
The year 2021 showed once again how a 
weakened democracy creates humanitarian 
need. We have also seen more examples than 
before of the struggle against undemocratic 
oppression putting families’ lives at risk. 

Millions of people’s lives have been turned 
upside down by military coups in Mali, 
Afghanistan and Myanmar. In addition to crises 
caused by conflict, the year was also marked 
by an increase in devastating climate disasters 
and the persistent COVID-19 pandemic. As 
a result, a record number of people were in 
need of humanitarian assistance – 235 million 
people worldwide in 2021.

For Diakonia, these types of crises 
demonstrate the need to constantly adapt 
our work. In this way, we ensure that men, 
women and children have access to the basics 
they need for survival – whether they are 
refugees, internally displaced people or living 
in an environment where extreme weather 
creates disasters. Our emergency response 
should always contribute to our long-term 
work for human rights, gender equality and 
democracy. This is the key to ensuring that 
people fighting for a free and equal society 
can do so, whatever the emergency they find 
themselves in.

Support packages for children in war-torn 
Gaza
Palestine. Wars and conflicts hit the civilian 
population hardest. When the bombs fell on 
Gaza in 2021, it exacerbated an already acute 
humanitarian situation.  

Our partner Tamer, which was already in the 
area, had to quickly adapt its work. As homes 
were razed to the ground and people lost family 
members, emergency relief and reconstruction 

became a priority. Tamer distributed food parcels, 
clothes and hygiene kits. But it was also able to 
step up its work with children living in the midst 
of conflict. At the Tamer centre, they were given 
safe spaces where they could process trauma. 
The support packages distributed to the children 
included storybooks, paper, colouring pencils and 
drawing books.  

More humanity in 
conflicts
The International Humanitarian Law Centre is 
Diakonia’s programme for generating greater 
respect for international law. Through local 
centres for international humanitarian law, we 
work to help people in conflict zones.

In 2021, the IHL Centre strengthened its position 
as a leading legal centre of expertise in the 
humanitarian sector. After internal restructuring, 
the Centre began to work at a global level and 
on the conflicts that arose in Mozambique and 
Myanmar. It provided analysis and advice on 
topical international issues, such as COVID-19 and 
occupation, sanctions in Syria and Afghanistan 
and the worsening crisis in the Sahel region, south 
of the Sahara. 

During the year, the Centre has collaborated 
widely with actors in the humanitarian sector – 
in addition to civil society, the UN commission 
of inquiry, the media and several academic 
institutions.

Emergency response in 2021 
Colombia. Initiatives to support women and young people 

in various ways in the context of the large-scale national 

strike in Colombia, based on the socio-economic situation 

of the country. Partner: CAPS, CRIC, Justapaz, Ruta  

Pacifica. 6 months, SEK 909 250. Sector: protection,  

psychosocial support, health, food.

 

Honduras. Food project to improve the nutrition of families 

with children under the age of five belonging to the Tolupan 

indigenous people. The project was carried out in coop-

eration with the Food and Agriculture Organization of the 

United Nations (FAO). Partner: ASONOG, 8 months, SEK 

170 000. Sector: food, nutrition.

 

Palestine. Targeting children in Gaza directly or indirectly 

affected by the bombing of Gaza in May 2021 through 

trauma-informed education. Partner: Tamer Institute for 

Community Education, 7 months, SEK 700 000. Sector: 

education, psychosocial support.

Somalia. Emergency hygiene and nutrition initiatives for 

women-headed households and people with disabilities 

after Cyclone Gati caused widespread devastation in 

Puntland. Partner: KAD, 6 months, SEK 500 000. Sector: 

food, hygiene, cash-based support.

Sri Lanka. Humanitarian project to alleviate the need cre-

ated by the COVID-19 pandemic among women-headed 

households, LGBTQI people, students and survivors of sex-

ual violence. Partner: OPEnE, PAFFREL, SWDC, 4 months, 

SEK 450 000. Sector: food, cash-based support, non-food, 

education.

Other initiatives. In 2021, Diakonia has further support-

ed the emergency response by providing a total of SEK 

1 507 902, which for security reasons cannot be reported 

in detail.

Photo: DSPR
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Annual accounts

MANAGEMENT  
REPORT
Diakonia’s Board of Directors and Secretary General 
hereby submit the following annual accounts for 2021.

General information on the organization 
Diakonia is a Swedish development organization 
and non-profit association based on Christian 
values. Our founding churches are the Christian 
denominations the Swedish Alliance Mission and 
the Uniting Church in Sweden.  

We are working for a just, equal and sustainable 
world. We are convinced that the most important 
drivers behind social change are people who 
become aware of their rights and join forces to 
assert them. Our goal is a world free from violence, 
oppression and poverty.

Diakonia works using a rights-based approach 
and on the basis of feminist principles with long-
term development cooperation, emergency 
response, mobilisation and advocacy work. We do 
this with around 400 locally rooted movements and 
organizations in 25 countries in Asia, Africa, Latin 
America, the Middle East and Sweden.   

Diakonia is a member of ACT Alliance, a global 
partnership of churches and Christian development 
organizations that works in more than 125 countries 
around the world.   

Diakonia’s activities are funded by donations 
from congregations, individuals and foundations, 
along with grants from Sida (the Swedish 
International Development Cooperation Agency), 
the EU, the charitable foundation Radiohjälpen, 
the Swedish Postcode Lottery and other financiers. 
Diakonia conducts fundraising campaigns using, 
for example, fundraising newsletters and social 
media. We have an official fundraising account 
(‘90 account’) that is checked annually by the 
Swedish Fundraising Control.  

Diakonia is part of the sector organization 
Giva Sverige, which works to safeguard serious 
fundraising and has developed ethical rules for 
fundraising that Diakonia follows.

Diakonia’s work is carried out in a transparent 
and accountable manner. Since 2020, we have 
been one of only two organizations in Sweden 
that have been certified according to the Core 
Humanitarian Standard (CHS).

Significant events during the year of activity
Coronavirus pandemic and adjustment
In the spring of 2021, Diakonia and its partner 
organizations still had to adjust and adapt to 
the ongoing coronavirus pandemic. The aim was 

to carry out as many of the planned activities 
as possible, but when necessary, activities were 
reprioritised to meet the needs arising from the 
pandemic. Above all, rights holders who were 
already poor and vulnerable have been hit hardest. 
In some cases, it was also necessary to switch to 
an emergency response, which was made possible 
in close dialogue with our financiers. Diakonia and 
our partner organizations have good capacity for 
development and humanitarian work, which has 
meant that activities have not been negatively 
affected. The pandemic has also forced us to 
find new, more climate-friendly ways to meet and 
monitor our activities, such as the use of digital 
solutions. Follow-up trips and face-to-face meetings 
have been converted into digital meetings and 
coordination. This has led to a reduction in air travel 
in all regions and countries. We conclude that the 
pandemic will also lead to changes in travel habits in 
the longer term. 

New global strategy and country strategies
2021 marked the launch of Diakonia’s new global 
strategy, which will guide our work towards our 
overarching goal: to help change unjust structures 
and reduce poverty, inequality, oppression and 
violence. Our focus areas are human rights, 
democracy and gender equality. We must also 
more clearly integrate environmental, climate and 
conflict perspectives. We have identified four areas 
for development to ensure relevance, efficiency 
and goal achievement. Among other things, we will 
work to ensure that Diakonia’s feminist principles 
are integrated in all our activities and that our 
programming is always based on theories of change. 
We will also work to create opportunities for new 
social movements and change agents to work for 
change. A further item on the development agenda is 
that we continue to analyse and develop our mission 
as a partner, an ally and a voice for change.

Five-year programme to strengthen civil society
2021 also saw the launch of the new five-year 
global civil society programme. The programme 
includes all our country programmes, as well 
as a global knowledge programme. The aim is 
to strengthen the development of civil society 
organizations and their work for change. In the 
new programme, Diakonia makes a strategic shift 
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and adopts the methodology of change theory at 
all levels. We create better conditions for partner 
organizations to work with long-term planning 
and sustainability and strengthen our approach to 
the link between development work, humanitarian 
assistance and peace.

Gender equality policy
In line with the global strategy, a new gender 
equality policy has been adopted by the Board. 
The policy is an important steering document and 
guides us in working according to our feminist 
principles. A toolkit for analysing and implementing 
a climate and environmental perspective in 
programmes and projects has also been developed 
during the year. The tools are accompanied by 
capacity building, including the development of 
an e-learning course on conflict management. It 
is expected to be ready for internal use and for 
partner organizations in 2022.

Framework for reducing risks
Diakonia’s activities are largely carried out in 
contexts with a greater level of risk. Security is 
often a major challenge for rights holders, partner 
organizations and Diakonia staff. In 2021, the 
implementation of the global security framework 
that was developed to reduce the risk of serious 
incidents began. The security framework includes 
e-learning for safer business travel.

Siriwan Saehor campaigns for gender equality in Thailand with 
our partner Center for Girls. Photo: Diakonia

New visual identity
Diakonia launched a new graphics profile along 
with a new tonality platform, a new manifesto 
and a new website. These tools are now used by 
the whole organization when we produce external 
communications materials. We have a brand that 
is in line with our global strategy and visually 
represents the bold and modern organization that 
we are.

New agreement with EU for humanitarian work
In December 2021, Diakonia signed a new seven-year 
agreement with ECHO (European Civil Protection 
and Humanitarian Aid Operations).  It is a partnership 
agreement that allows Diakonia to apply for funding 
from the European Commission for humanitarian 
projects. This will strengthen Diakonia’s ability to 
mobilise resources for emergency response, as well 
as the global programme related to international 
humanitarian law (IHL).

Changes in personnel
A new International Director, Anna Eggelind, and 
a Deputy International Director, Domingo Torres 
Santos, took up their posts at the beginning of 
the year. The Head of Communications and 
Fundraising, Helena Lind, left her post in December, 
and recruitment of a replacement began.

External factors  
In 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic was still the major 
overarching event that affected everything. It has 
been characterised by uneven vaccine distribution, 
new variants of the virus and recurrent national 
restrictions. Poverty and need in the world have 
increased and mainly affected those who were 
already vulnerable. The effects of the pandemic 
have reinforced many of the structural inequalities 
that already existed, with unequal access to often 
underfunded health and welfare services being 
among the more obvious examples. For example, 
rights holders have lost their jobs and livelihoods, 
making them more vulnerable. Schools have been 
closed for long periods, gender-based violence has 
increased, as has the gap between those who have 
access to IT technology and those who do not. 
Several countries will continue to live with COVID-19 
and deal with direct and indirect consequences of 
the pandemic for a long time, which will also affect 

Diakonia’s programmes to varying degrees.
The negative global trend of a shrinking 

democratic space, authoritarianism, populism 
and opposition to women’s and LGBTQI rights 
continued in 2021. Those in power have also used 
the pandemic as a pretext to further shrink the 
space and silence critics. The negative trend can 
be seen in the four regions in which Diakonia works. 
The opportunities of partner organizations are 
increasingly being curtailed in several countries by 
national laws, rules, threats and abuses. In some 
countries, criticism of the government is prohibited, 
regardless of what the constitution says. At the 
same time, the role of the judiciary in protecting 
democracy and civil liberties and rights is being 
jeopardised. This pattern poses a serious threat 
to the standards and rights adopted to guarantee 
and promote peace, democracy and development. 
Diakonia’s country offices are also affected, and 
we have even had to close offices as a result.

Increased digitalisation has also created new 
opportunities, for example for digital presence and 
monitoring activities. Within Diakonia, the situation 
has led to more focused and advanced work on 
risk analysis and adaptation in several areas, such 
as finance, administration and advocacy work. 
The pandemic has also helped to create a greater 
awareness in general and among our target groups 
in Sweden of the injustices we are fighting and of 
how we need to work together at a global level, 
rather than just concerning ourselves with our own 
country. 

Despite growing concern about the climate 
crisis worldwide and a temporary reduction in air 
travel, the trend towards global warming is far 
from reversed. The effects are noticeable, such 
as extreme weather, erratic rainfall and natural 
disasters. This affects women and other vulnerable 
groups the most. Diakonia continues to work with 
advocacy and on boosting local preparedness.

In Sweden, some political parties have continued 
to argue for a reduction in development assistance, 
partly by spreading disinformation and making 
untrue claims. Sustainability goals were severely 
underfunded even before the pandemic, and 
needs are now increasing. This is why many see 
it as necessary to maintain the current level of 
development assistance. At the same time, there 
are arguments from other quarters for redirecting 

funds from development assistance to initiatives 
in Sweden.  Also the public’s willingness to provide 
development assistance does not seem to have 
decreased significantly. 

It is also important to point out that both climate 
change and shrinking democratic space are not 
just considered to be external factors, but are part 
of the problem analysis on which our programmes 
often focus.

Activities and results  
Diakonia’s activities are governed by a global 
strategy and by separate country strategies. 
Activities in a country may have different financiers 
and are implemented in close cooperation with 
local organizations and other strategic actors. 
Diakonia has several roles in development 
cooperation, including providing financial support 
and ensuring the best use of funds, contributing 
to capacity building, resource mobilisation, or 
acting as a sounding board and creating synergies 
between different actors – nationally, regionally 
and globally. 

In 2021 too, Diakonia and its partner 
organizations have had to adapt their work to 
challenges in complex contexts defined by the 
coronavirus pandemic, and in many cases also by 

Promy and Chowa are participants in Diakonia’s bicycle project 
in Bangladesh. Photo: Diakonia
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political instability and shrinking democratic space. 
Key measures have been effective monitoring of 
the surrounding world, risk analysis and the ability 
to adapt programmes as needs arise. 

Nevertheless, many important results have 
been achieved. For us, it is becoming clear that, 
with persistent and focused work, change can 
be achieved by fighting for human rights, gender 
equality and democracy.

Diakonia’s theory of change is the basis, and 
we apply goal and performance management 
and adaptive management where relevant. The 
aim is to maximise performance by continuously 
learning from successes as well as failures and 
making adjustments based on lessons learned. 
We use different methodologies, depending on 
donor requirements, types of partner organization 
and funding type (project or core funding), such 
as change theory, outcome mapping, outcome 
harvesting and the Logical Framework Approach 
(LFA).

Learning is an important part of our performance 
monitoring. Knowing what worked and what didn’t 
– and why – is the foundation of all learning. 
Learning takes place in our daily work and 
throughout the implementation of the initiative. 
The lessons learned are included in reports, 
applications, evaluations, studies and audits. In 
addition, all teams create spaces for learning and 
reflection through regular learning sessions, where 
key areas are analytically discussed with the aim 
of underpinning Diakonia’s work.

A presidential election was held in Honduras in 
November. There was a high risk of attacks on the 
freedom of the press and of dissemination of false 
information. For this reason, together with the 
C-LIBRE organization, we set up a crisis centre for 
the three days before, during and after the election. 
Via a network of over 60 journalists in different 
areas, we monitored violations of freedom of the 
press and expression in the country. This resulted 
in a report in which about 30 different cases were 
registered. These included assaults, threats and 
violence against journalists, as well as journalists 
being prevented from doing their job. 

Climate change and a global pandemic have 
caused many small-scale farmers in Myanmar 
to lose their incomes. There, with the Myanmar 
Baptist Convention (MBC), we have run training 

courses in leadership and sustainable and organic 
farming methods. To enable more women to start 
and run their own businesses, we have offered 
microloans. With their new skills and livelihoods, 
they have then been able to set up their own local 
development funds to which other women can turn 
for financial support and training.

On the Atlantic coast of Nicaragua, food 
shortages were acute after a year of the pandemic. 
Together with our partner organization AMICA, we 
distributed growing kits with seeds and gardening 
tools to the women. They were able to support 
themselves again, and they were also able to 
build up a collective seed bank, so that even more 
women could take part in the project.

In Egypt, conservative norms and traditions 
are deeply rooted. Cairo is considered one of the 
world’s most dangerous cities for women. Sexual 
harassment is a widespread problem. Together 
with feminist organizations, we have provided legal 
support to women victims of sexual harassment, 
rape or gender-based violence. During yet another 
year of the pandemic, with severe restrictions and 
isolation as a result, this work has been particularly 
important. 

Young people’s participation in politics and 
decision-making is crucial for the future of 
democracy. In Zimbabwe, we have been running 
projects with our partner YETT to engage and 
educate young people. In local groups, we have 
held training sessions on youth issues – such as 
sexual and reproductive health and rights, gender-
based violence and democratic processes. The 
groups have become powerful agents of change, 
putting pressure on decision-makers and raising 
the profile of important issues. 

One of the most important results of our 

advocacy work this year is a successful campaign 
that led to change. In March, the European 
Commission issued a directive to Member States 
to introduce strong human rights due diligence 
legislation. This means that international 
companies are required by law to assess their 
operations and take measures to prevent negative 
impacts on human rights.

Performance and financial position

Revenues Operational 
expenses

Year SEK th. SEK th.

2021 465 620  421 696 91%

2020 558 414  509 764 91%

2019 576 063  494 869 86%

2018 516 892  476 232 92%

2017 506 481  460 697 91%

In 2021, Diakonia’s income decreased by SEK 93 
million compared to 2020, amounting to just over 
SEK 466 million. The largest reductions are about 
SEK 44 million related to development cooperation 
agreements that expired in 2020 and a reduction in 
agreement volume of about SEK 30 million due to 
delays in spending Sida’s civil society support grant, 
for which agreements were only concluded at the 
end of April 2021. 91 percent of the revenue for 2021 
was used for operational expenses, totalling SEK 422 
million.

Raised funds Fundraising
costs   

Year SEK th. SEK th.

2021 60 236  7 209 12%

2020 70 959  7 295 10%

2019 97 184  4 800 5%

2018 68 679  7 058 10%

2017 63 201  9 850 16%

In 2021 Diakonia received several bequests 
amounting to approximately SEK 5.3 million, which 
together with funds raised from other donations 
and the gift shop meant that the total funds raised 
were SEK 60.2 million. In the area of donations, the 
number of monthly donors is at the same level as in 
previous years, and they donated around the same 
amount as in 2020 – just over SEK 14 million. 

Diakonia’s involvement in the Världens Barn 
fundraising campaign resulted in a grant of SEK 3.7 
million, and the Postcode Lottery contributed SEK 
20 million. The Postcode Lottery’s surplus goes to 
charitable organizations, with Diakonia being one 
of the beneficiaries. 
  
Financial instruments and investment policy
Diakonia’s securities portfolio is primarily 
managed by Nordea and is invested in funds that 
adhere to the investment policy that Diakonia’s 
Board of Directors has established. This means 
that investment is made in low-risk financial 
instruments, mainly interest-bearing securities. 
Investments take into account the actions of 
companies in connection with investments in 
the areas of human rights, working conditions, 
environmental issues and corruption. The ethical 
criteria do not permit investment in activities such 
as those that involve arms, pornography, alcohol, 
tobacco or fossil energy sources. 

Shares received as gifts are sold immediately, 
and the sale value is recorded as revenue.  

Sustainability information  
Sustainability is at the heart of Diakonia’s activities. 
We support and work to contribute to achieving 
the 17 UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 
in the 2030 Agenda. We have a set of frameworks 
and guidelines such as a Code of Conduct, 
procurement rules, anti-corruption guidelines 

Total costs per region (SEK th.)
2021 2020 2019

Middle East 45 753 10% 54 458 10% 60 222 11% 

Asia 57 582 12% 59 184 11% 56 183  11%  

Africa 199 580 43% 264 815 48% 232 852  44%  

Latin America 93 581 20% 105 955 19% 115 923  22%   

Sweden and worldwide 62 213 13% 60 127 11% 29 690  6%  

Overheads 7 209 2% 7 295 1% 37 647  7%  

Total 465 533 100% 551 835 100% 532 516  100%  

Administrative costs – what are they?  

A functioning administration is necessary in order 
to be able to carry out serious activities. This 
requires both staff and systems. To a large extent, 
it is about ensuring that the money arrives at the 
correct destination and is used correctly. Diakonia 
has, for example, secure financial systems and 
systems for detecting suspected corruption. In 2021, 
administrative and fundraising costs amounted to  
9.5 percent of turnover. 
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and an environmental policy to monitor the 
organization’s commitments. Diakonia conducts 
systematic work environment management in 
which we investigate, remedy and follow up work 
environment issues. One way we do this is by 
developing department-specific work environment 
plans in a collaboration between employers and 
employees, based on the global employee survey. 
Diakonia has a decentralised organizational 
structure with a total of 275 people employed in 
2021. The majority of them, 222, are employed 
in the countries in which Diakonia operates. The 
conditions of local employees are governed by 
internal guidelines and by local legislation. In 2021, 
54 people worked at Head Office in Stockholm and 
8 people were posted abroad. Staff members at 
the Head Office are covered by sector and salary 
agreements for non-profit and ideology-driven 
organizations, and staff posted abroad by general 
terms of employment for staff on international 
missions.   

Diakonia’s staff guidelines put diversity at the 
centre and make it clear that we strive for diversity 
in terms of gender, sexuality and ethnic, religious, 
social and cultural backgrounds, including 
disabilities. Diakonia’s Policy on Protection from 
Sexual Harassment, Exploitation and Abuse, 
as well as its Code of Conduct, reflect further 
commitments by Diakonia to protect staff and 
rights holders from gender-based violence and 
harmful behaviour.

By implementing our environmental policy 
and working on the basis of a long-term plan, 
Diakonia takes environmental responsibility in 
our offices and through our programmes. The 
implementation plan defines global objectives, 
activities and indicators to facilitate joint planning, 
implementation, monitoring and learning in the 
field of environment and climate.

Read more in Diakonia’s Sustainability Report on 
page 48.     
  
Expected future developments and material 
risks and uncertainties  
Diakonia will continue to work on the basis of the 
global strategy and the shifts we have identified 
that we need to make as an organization to achieve 
our goals. An organizational review focusing on 
Head Office was initiated in late 2021. In 2022, 

management will work on a new organizational 
structure, which will be negotiated with the trade 
unions. The new organizational structure at Head 
Office will affect the whole organization. It will 
involve a period of transition to adapt roles and 
responsibilities to the new structure. The aim is to 
make the organization financially sustainable and 
more cost-effective in the long term. 

We expect the impact of the coronavirus crisis 
to continue into 2022. This will have negative 
social, political and economic consequences for 
the people Diakonia serves, even as the pandemic 
begins to wind down and more countries lift 
restrictions. We also foresee that several of our 
countries will need to adapt their activities to 
complex contexts with shrinking democratic space 
and where civil society organizations are subject to 
very strong reprisals. We need to increase our crisis 
preparedness and prevention, and have capacity 
and systems in place to deal with crises when they 
occur. Our operational planning must ensure that 
we have the capacity to respond to increasing 
humanitarian needs and manage long-term 
development work for human rights, democracy 
and gender equality, which have become even 
more important.  

The results of the Swedish parliamentary 
elections in the autumn of 2022 may have 
direct consequences for Swedish development 
cooperation, including Diakonia’s activities, which 
are largely financed by state funds. Various 
scenarios need to be prepared for.

Management 
The Annual Meeting is Diakonia’s highest governing 
body and decides on the organization’s policy. The 
policy clarifies, among other things, the meaning of 
Diakonia’s values and mission. The Annual Meeting 
also appoints the Secretary General, adopts the 
end-of-year accounts and makes decisions on 
discharging the Board from liability. The Annual 
Meeting’s representatives are appointed by the 
founding churches. The Secretary General is 
Diakonia’s most senior officer and is accountable 
to the Board of Directors. The Secretary General 
represents the organization and is to ensure that 
operations follow the guidelines and decisions 
adopted.  

Diakonia’s ordinary Annual Meeting was held 

online on 27 May 2021. 
On 8 September 2021, an extraordinary Annual 

Meeting was held online at which the second of two 
decisions regarding the amendment of Diakonia’s 
statutes was taken. At the same time, the 
orientation plan and budget for 2022 were decided.

The Board bears ultimate responsibility for 
Diakonia’s operations and makes decisions on 
strategy, the overall operational plan and the 
budget on the basis of the frameworks established 
by the Annual Meeting. The Board of Directors also 
makes decisions on authorised signatories, the 
right of attestation and the organization’s order of 
delegation, as well as issuing the annual accounts 
and preparing matters to be dealt with at the 
Annual Meeting.  

The Board met on six occasions in 2021. Two 
of the meetings were conducted face-to-face 
and four digitally. In 2021, the Board consisted 
of Chairperson Pether Nordin (attended 6/6), 
Vice Chairperson Anette Drewitz (attended 6/6), 
Ulrika Erkenborn Rugumayo (attended 6/6), 
Linnea Gullholmer (attended 6/6), Göran Gunner 
(attended 6/6), Marie Lackenbauer (attended 6/6) 
and Oskar Permvall (attended 5/6). Employee 
representative Joakim Wohlfeil attended all 
meetings. 

No new members were elected to the Board at 
the ordinary Annual Meeting on 27 May. At the 
Extraordinary Meeting, following the adoption 
of the amended statutes allowing the Board to 
consist of seven to eleven members, Mats Hårsmar 
(attended 2/2), Andreas Linderyd (attended 1/2), 
Mine Lon (attended 2/2) and Jakob Ämterlind 
(attended 2/2) were also elected as members of the 
Board without replacing an existing member. 

The Nomination Committee for the 2021 Annual 
Meeting was Eva-Marie Cider, Anna Kimming, 
Ulrika Morazán and Roland Oscarsson.

Controllers for 2021 were Karin Hallin, Roland 
Henrysson and Micael Lindholm.  

Authorised Public Accountant Erik Albenius, PwC, 
was appointed as auditor for 2021. Authorised 
Public Accountant Angelica Stööp, PwC, was 
appointed deputy auditor.
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Board of Directors of Diakonia

Pether Nordin

Born 1957, Board Chairperson. A 
graduate in economics who has 
worked as a manager in various 
companies and organizations such 
as Ericsson, the Swedish Transport 
Agency and the Church of Swe-
den. Former member of the Mission 
Board of the Baptist Union of 
Sweden. Chairperson of the Board 
of Linköping City Mission and the 
Shakespearefabriken theatre.

Anette Drewitz

Born 1970, Vice Chairperson. 
Management coordinator at 
the Department of Education 
in Jönköping Municipality. 
Background as a teacher and 
special educator. Has been 
involved in the Red Cross Board 
in Gränna and was elected to 
the International Council of the 
Swedish Alliance Mission in 2015. 

Linnea Gullholmer

Born 1988. Lawyer working at the 
Swedish Defence University. Has 
served as substitute coordinator 
at the Uniting Church in Sweden 
and is co-author of Diakonia’s 
book Action – tillsammans 
förändrar vi världen (Action – 
together we are changing the 
world). Has also represented 
the Uniting Church in Sweden 
internationally. 

Göran Gunner

Born 1950. Associate Professor of 
Missiology, Doctor of Theology 
in the History of Religion, lecturer 
and pastor in the Uniting Church 
in Sweden. Has been engaged 
in research at the Church of 
Sweden’s research unit and has 
been a member of the CEC’s 
working group on human rights 
and freedom of religion. 

Oskar Permvall

Born 1957. Master of Science in 
Electrical Engineering. Worked at 
Ericsson for many years and has 
numerous global contacts. Has 
previously served as Chairperson 
and Vice Chairperson of the 
Board of Diakonia. Has also been 
a committed Board member in 
congregations and communities. 

Ulrika Erkenborn Rugumayo

Born 1967. Economics graduate 
and CEO of Transformity AB, 
which helps companies with 
sustainable transformation. 
Previously worked for Diakonia’s 
Regional Office in Africa. Also 
a Board member of the Shifo 
Foundation. 

Marie Lackenbauer

Born 1957. District nurse 
specialising in international 
health. Has held various 
management positions in health 
and social care for many years. 
Extensive experience of working 
in Africa, most recently as head 
of Vi-Skogen’s/WeEffect’s work in 
Rwanda. 

Andreas Linderyd

Born 1976. Research and 
Development Officer at the 
Swedish Sports Confederation. 
Has written a thesis on the 
interaction between brand and 
values in the non-profit, private 
and public sectors. Has previously 
worked at Ideell Arena non-profit 
network, and has extensive 
experience of assignments at the 
Uniting Church in Sweden.

Mats Hårsmar

Born 1961. Deputy Administrative 
Direction of the Expert Group 
for Aid Studies. Former chargé 
d’affaires and development 
cooperation officer at the Swedish 
Embassy in Burkina Faso. At the 
Ministry for Foreign Affairs, his 
roles have included Principal 
Secretary of the Expert Group on 
Development Issues and Chief 
Analyst for Development Issues.

Mine Lon

Born 1988. Project Officer at 
the International Department 
of the Swedish Alliance Mission 
with a degree in international 
work. Has extensive experience 
as a volunteer with development 
organizations in Myanmar. 
Member of the mission 
council and the Board of the 
Nässjö Alliance and Baptist 
Congregation.

Jakob Ämterlind

Born 1983. Environmental scientist 
and pastor. Works as Secretary 
General of the Youth of the 
Swedish Alliance Mission. Active 
as a lecturer on topics related 
to sustainability, climate and 
eco-theology. Retired from the 
Board on 17 February 2022, as he 
will be employed for a period at 
Diakonia’s Head Office.

Diakonia’s Head Office is in Stockholm.  

Regional and country offices. Diakonia is a decentralised organization 

with offices in 23 of the 25 countries in which long-term development co-

operation and emergency response are carried out. Four regional offices 

support the country offices with overall coordination and administration. 

 

Africa. Regional Office: Kenya. Country Office: Burkina Faso, Demo-

cratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), Kenya, Mali, Mozambique, Somalia, 

Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe.    

 

Asia. Regional Office: Thailand. Country Office: Bangladesh,  

Cambodia, Myanmar, Sri Lanka and Thailand.  

 

Latin America. Regional Office: Colombia. Country Office: Bolivia, 

Colombia, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, Paraguay and Peru.  

 

Middle East. Regional Office: Has temporarily moved to the Head 

Office in Stockholm. Country Office: Lebanon and Jerusalem.   

Key collaborations. Diakonia is a member of Giva Sverige, Svenska 

postkodföreningen (the association behind the Swedish Postcode 

Lottery) and the global network ACT Alliance. We participate in several 

groups related to ACT, such as ACT EU, ACT Europe, the ACT Member 

Steering Group (E8) and ACT Nordic. We also take part in local ACT 

forums in several of our partner countries. We actively participate in 

several of CONCORD Sweden’s working groups. We are represented 

on several boards, including CONCORD Sweden, European Network 

for Central Africa, EU-LAT Network for Latin America, Swedwatch, 

Världens Barn and Radiohjälpen. We are also members of Swed-

ish partnerships such as Fair Finance Guide Sweden, the Swedish 

Forum for Human Rights, the Swedish Ecumenical Accompaniment 

Programme in Palestine and Israel, and the European Coalition for 

Corporate Justice in Sweden. In addition, we are represented in the 

Swedish Network for Transitional Justice, the Swedish Platform for Co-

lombia, the Forum for Security Co-operation and the various networks 

of strategic partner organizations. At European level we take part in 

organizations such as CONCORD Europe, Eurodad, OIDAHCO for Co-

lombia and the Zimbabwe Europe Network. Where humanitarian work 

is concerned, we are members of the Core Humanitarian Standard, 

Charter for Change, Svenska Humanitära Nätverket – SNHA (Swedish 

Humanitarian Network – SNHA) and Resiliensnätverket (Swedish Net-

work for Disaster Risk and Resilience). We are also members of the Global 

Network of Civil Society Organisations for Disaster Reduction (GNDR).

Country Office Country Office Country Office Country Office
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Office
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PROFIT AND LOSS  
STATEMENT

Note 2021 2020

Revenues for the association

Grants 415 041 507 179

Gifts 48 807 48 576

Other revenues 1 773 2 659

Total revenues for the association 2, 3, 4 465 620 558 414

Expenses for the association

Operational expenses -421 696 -509 764

Fundraising and marketing costs -7 209 -7 295

Administrative costs -37 013 -34 776

Total expenses for the association 2 -465 918 -551 835

Result from operations -298 6 579

Result from financial investments

Result from securities and receivables held as non-current assets 5 4 432 1 783

Other interest income and similar profit/loss items 6 1 260 784

Interest expense and similar profit/loss items 7 -3 408 -1 951

Total income from financial investments 2 284 616

Net profit/loss for the year 1 985 7 195

Change in earmarked funds 4

Profit/loss for the year according to the profit and loss statement 1 985 7 195

Utilisation of earmarked funds 870 1 383

Utilisation of Fund for operations and investment 4 038 -4 000

Allocation to/utilisation of Fund for operations and investment -5 000 0

Other earmarking of funds -1 736 -2 792

Remaining balance/profit/loss brought forward 157 1 785

The totals may deviate from the subtotals due to rounding figures.

All figures are in SEK thousands unless otherwise indicated.

BALANCE SHEET As per 31 December

Note 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Assets

Non-current assets 

Non-current intangible assets

Capitalised expenditure for software 8 0 1

Property, plant and equipment 

Furniture  9 120 143

Financial non-current assets

Securities held as non-current assets 10 166 259 160 599

Total non-current assets 166 380 160 743

Current assets 

Current receivables  

Other receivables 3 320 1 943

Prepaid expenses and accrued income  12 9 359 26 523

Total current receivables 12 679 28 466

Cash and bank balances 160 731 143 327

Total current assets 173 409 171 792

Total assets 339 789 332 536

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Fund for operations and investment 63 035 62 073

Earmarked funds   7 740 6 874

Profit/loss brought forward  85 420 85 263

Total equity 156 195 154 209

Provisions 

Provisions for pensions and similar commitments 14 22 080 17 452

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable – trade  7 006 5 037

Liabilities for grants received but not used 13 134 245 132 749

Other liabilities 4 148 3 707

Accrued expenses and deferred income 16 16 116 19 382

Total current liabilities 161 514 160 874

Total equity and liabilities  339 789 332 536

The totals may deviate from the subtotals due to rounding figures.



40 41Diakonia Annual Report 2021

Changes in equity
Earmarked 

funds

Fund for operations 

and investment

Profit/loss 

brought forward

Total equity

Opening profit/loss 6 874 62 073 85 263 154 209

Change to Fund for operations and investment 962 962

Unused earmarked funds 1 736 1 736

Utilisation of earmarked funds -870 -870

Remaining balance for the year 157 157

Utgående balans 7 740 63 035 85 420 156 195

Scope and purpose of Diakonia’s equity 

The purpose of Diakonia’s equity is that, in the event that Diako-

nia’s operations need to be wound up, the equity should cover 

today’s fixed costs, such as rents and contracts of employment 

at Head Office, regional and country offices, for a period of one 

year. This year, the expenses for regional and country offices 

total about SEK 144 million, which is recognised as operating 

expenses, according to agreements with Sida. The expenses of 

Head Office total approximately SEK 44 million, of which SEK 

37 million is recognised as administrative costs and SEK 7 million 

as fundraising expenses. The major share of these expenses is 

made up of rent and personnel costs. All Diakonia funds are des-

tined for its operations or the administration of its operations. 

The level of equity required is based an assessment of probabil-

ity. According to a decision taken by the Board of Diakonia, the 

level of equity should be about 25 percent of the total annual 

turnover. In addition, Diakonia has established a fund for oper-

ations and investment. Any surplus from administrative grants is 

allocated to this. The purpose is to create liquidity for pre-fund-

ing of EU agreements, bridge funding for country offices and 

major IT investments, etc. 

Cash flow statement 

Note 1. Accounting and valuation policies
Diakonia’s accounting and valuation policies comply with the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act, the Swedish Accounting Stand-
ards Board’s (BFN) general recommendation BFNAR 2012:1 
(K3) and Giva Sverige’s (the Swedish Fundraising Association) 
governing guidelines on annual accounts. The principles 
remain unchanged from the previous year of activity.

Profit and loss statement

Operating revenue. Only the inflow of economic benefits 
that the organization has received or will receive on its own 
account is recognised as revenue. Unless otherwise indicated 
below, revenue is measured at the fair value of what has been 
received or will be received.

Gifts and grants. Any transaction through which Diakonia 
receives an asset or a service that has a value and does not 
provide corresponding value in return is a gift or a grant 
received. If the asset or service is received because Diakonia 
has fulfilled or will fulfil certain conditions and if Diakonia 
has an obligation to repay the counterparty if the conditions 
are not fulfilled, it is considered a grant received. If it is not a 
grant, it is a gift.

Gifts. Gifts are, as a main principle, recognised as revenue 
when received. A gift recognised as revenue is accounted for 
as an asset or a cost, depending on whether the gift is used 
immediately or not. Other gifts are recognised as current 
assets. Gifts are, as a main principle, measured at fair value.

Grants. Grants are recognised as revenue when the con-
ditions for receiving the grant have been fulfilled. Grants 
received are recognised as liabilities until the conditions for 
receiving the grant have been fulfilled. Grants received to 
cover certain costs (for example, administrative) are recog-
nised in the same year of activity as the cost the grant is 
intended to cover.

Operating expenses. Operating expenses are classified into 
the following functions: operational, fundraising and admin-
istrative costs.

Operational expenses. Operational expenses consist of 
those expenses that have a direct connection to fulfilling the 
purpose and/or statutes of the organization. These expenses 
are divided into four categories:
•  Expenses at partner organizations.
•  Expenses relating to opinion-shaping activities, e.g.  

thematic campaigns, in cases where opinion building and 
awareness activities are part of the operation.

•  Administrative costs with a direct bearing on development 
cooperation are classified as operational expenses. All 
expenses incurred by field offices are classified as opera-
tional expenses.

•  Knowledge and skills development within Diakonia. These 
are expenses with a bearing on the organization’s own 
knowledge and skills development. Examples of such ex-
penses are experience sharing and internal training.

Fundraising expenses. Fundraising expenses consist of 
expenses relating to fundraising activities aimed at all Di-

akonia’s donors, that is, private individuals, businesses and 
organizations. The item includes not only activities targeting 
existing donors but also the work of seeking out new donors 
via campaigns, mailshots and maintenance of donor regis-
ters. Fundraising expenses may therefore comprise adver-
tising, printed matter, fundraising material and personnel 
involved in fundraising activities.  

Administrative costs. Administrative costs consist of the 
expenses that are necessary to manage Diakonia. Adminis-
tration is part of assuring good quality in the organization’s 
internal controls and reporting, both externally and in-house, 
to financiers, donors, the Board and other stakeholders, 
etc. Administrative costs include those relating to the finan-
cial management function, administrative systems, rents, 
furniture, annual audit, preparation of the annual accounts, 
Annual Meeting, etc. Only expenses incurred at Head Office 
are defined as administrative costs.

Leasing. All the organization’s leases are recognised as op-
erating leases, that is, the leasing charge (including the first 
increased rent) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease. In this respect, fees for rent of premises are 
also leasing fees.

Remuneration to employees. Ongoing remuneration to 
employees in the form of wages/salaries, social security 
contributions etc. is recognised as an expense as the em-
ployees perform their services. All pension commitments are 
defined-contribution and are recognised as an expense in the 
year in which the pension entitlement is earned.

Balance sheet. Assets, liabilities and provisions are meas-
ured at acquisition value, unless otherwise indicated below.

Property, plant and equipment and non-current intangi-
ble assets. Property, plant and equipment and non-current 
intangible assets are measured at acquisition value less de-
preciation according to plan. The acquisition value is reduced 
by grant finance relating to the acquisition of a non-current 
asset. Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the particular asset.

The following periods of depreciation are used:
•  Electronics (computers etc.) 3 years
•  Used cars 3 years
•  New cars 5 years
•  Modified software 3 years
•  Equipment (furniture etc.) 5 years

Financial assets. At the time of acquisition, financial assets 
are measured at acquisition value plus direct transaction 
costs. After initial recognition, investments held as current 
assets are measured by application of the lower of cost or 
market method, that is, at acquisition value or net sale value 
on the balance sheet date, whichever is the lower. After 
initial recognition, non-current financial assets that are not 
interest-bearing are measured at acquisition value (less any 
impairment losses). Non-current interest-bearing assets such 
as bonds are measured at accumulated acquisition value 

2021 2020

Operating activities

Result from operations -298 6 579

Depreciation/amortisation 252 250

Other items not included in cash flow 4 175 -147

Interest received and result from currency transactions 1 260 784

Dividends received 4 432 1 783

Interest paid and result from currency transactions -3 408 -1 951

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 6 410 7 298

Increase/decrease in other current receivables 15 787 -13 089

Increase/decrease in accounts payable – trade 1 969 1 458

Increase/decrease in other current liabilities -1 329 -1 903

Cash flow from operating activities 22 837 -6 236

Investing activities

Investments in non-current intangible assets 0 -12

Investments in property, plant and equipment 228 -262

Investments in financial non-current assets -9 759 -9 360

Disposals of financial non-current assets 4 099 6 562

Cash flow from investing activities -5 432 -3 072

Cash flow for the year 17 405 -9 309

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 143 327 152 635

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end 160 731 143 327

Liquidity of SEK 161 million (SEK 143 million) consists of bank balances and petty cash, with petty cash at Head Office and at regional 

and country offices amounting to SEK 21 million (SEK 20 million).
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by application of the effective interest rate method (less any 
impairment losses). All assets held for risk diversification 
are considered to constitute a securities portfolio and are 
therefore treated as one item at measurement by applica-
tion of the lower of cost or market method and in testing for 
impairment. 
An impairment of a non-current asset is recognised if the 
market value is lower than the acquisition value and the de-
cline is deemed to be permanent.

Receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are meas-
ured at the rates on the balance sheet date. Accounts receiv-
able are measured on a case-by-case basis, at the amount 
that is expected to be received.

Earmarked funds. Donations that have not yet been util-
ised and other earmarked funds are recognised in the item 
Earmarked funds in equity. See also the Equity section in the 
Notes to the financial statements.

Liabilities for grants received but not used. Grants 
received where the conditions have not yet been fulfilled in 
their entirety are recognised as a liability.

Provisions. A provision is recognised when Diakonia has a  
legal or constructive obligation resulting from events that 

have occurred, and where Diakonia expects that payment will 
be demanded to settle the obligations and a reliable estimate 
of the amount can be made. Provisions are valued at the best 
estimate of the amount that will be paid.

Contingent liabilities. Diakonia provides information on a 
contingent liability when Diakonia has a possible liability as 
a result of events beyond Diakonia’s control occurring or not 
occurring, or if Diakonia has an existing liability as a result of 
events that have occurred but it is not recognised as a liabil-
ity or provision, as it is unlikely that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the liability, or the size of the liability 
cannot be reliably estimated.

Cash flow statement. The cash flow statement is prepared 
using the indirect method and is based on the Result from op-
erations. The result from operations is adjusted for non-cash 
items and changes in accounts receivable – trade, accounts 
payable – trade and changes in other operating receivables 
and payables during the period. The effect on cash flow from 
investing and financing activities is also taken into account. 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and at 
banks, together with short-term investments with a maturity 
of less than 3 months.

Note 2. Summary of revenues and costs for projects in 2021

Note 3. Revenues for the association 
and funds raised 

Breakdown of revenues for the association: 2021 2020

Raised funds 60 236 70 959

Public grants 403 612 484 796

Other revenues 1 773 2 659

Total 465 620 558 414

Gifts 

Gifts from direct debit donors 14 014 13 955

Gifts from private donors 5 773 7 478

Gifts from congregations belonging to Diakonia’s 
founding churches 

1 022 3 781

Gifts from organizations, associations and 
companies

966 941

Donations via investments in funds 1 637 1 672

Donations via legacies 5 351 704

Swedish Postcode Lottery 20 000 20 000

Rechannelled raised funds 44 46

Total 48 807 48 576

Private grants

Världens barn campaign 3 678 3 122

Other grants, Radiohjälpen 1 993 4 567

Swedish Postcode Lottery 0 2 000

Other private grants 4 686 8 291

Accrued raised funds 85 4 502

Repaid grants 986 -99

Total 11 429 22 383

Total funds raised 60 236 70 959

Breakdown of public grants:

Sida CivSam 1, 2 156 121 160 612

Sida Info 1, 3 4 948 5 000

Sida RegLA 1, 4 5 300 5 447

Sida Hum 1, 5 9 849 20 000

Swe. Emb. Middle East 6 2 625 9 169

Swe. Emb. Africa 6 113 569 175 777

Swe. Emb. Asia 6 26 023 21 130

Swe. Emb. Latin America 6 35 326 48 845

EU Africa 24 641 26 416

EU Latin America 9 018 10 031

Foreign embassies 5 550 23 037

Other financiers 9 055 9 502

Accrued grants 627 -24 067

Repaid appropriations 958 -6 102

Total 403 612 484 796

1 Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (Sida) 
2 CivSam, the Unit for Support to Civil Society, is part of the Department for Partnership 
and Innovation
3 Information and Communication, part of the Department for Partnership and Innova-
tion
4 Unit for Latin America and Thematic Support, part of the Department for Europe and 
Latin America
5 Humanitarian Assistance – part of the Department for Asia, Middle East and Humani-
tarian Assistance
6 Development cooperation departments based at Swedish embassies (Ministry for 
Foreign Affairs)

During the year, approximately 300 individuals worked without compensation as repre-
sentatives for Diakonia in Sweden. Moreover, many people have committed themselves to 
campaigns and similar events on behalf of Diakonia. The value of all this work – free of 
charge – is not recognised in the profit and loss statement.

Note 4. Budget follow-up

Outcome
2021

Budget
2021

Devia-
tion 2021

Revenues for the association

Public grants 402 027 458 402 -56 375

 - Allocated project funds/Repaid 
grants

1 585 1 585

Raised funds 59 164 53 253 5 911

 - Allocated/Repaid grants 1 071 1 071

Other revenues 1 773 450 1 323

Total revenues for the association 465 620 512 105 -46 485

Expenses for the association

Operational expenses -421 696 -477 601 55 905

Fundraising costs -7 209 -10 114 2 905

Administrative costs -37 013 -41 869 4 856

Total expenses for the association -465 918 -529 584 63 666

Result from operations -298 -17 479 17 180

Result from financial investments 2 284 0 2 284

Net profit/loss for the year 1 985 -17 479 19 464

Breakdown of net profit/loss for 
the year

Profit/loss for the year according to 
the profit and loss statement

1 985 -17 479 19 464

Balance of utilisation and provisioning 
of earmarked funds

3 172 5 000 -1 828

Allocation to Fund for operations and 
investment

-5 000 1 400 -6 400

Remaining balance, profit/loss 
brought forward

157 -11 079 11 236

Note 5. Result from securities and  
receivables held as non-current assets

2021 2020

Dividends 2 122 523

Profit/loss on sale of non-current assets 2 310 1 261

Total 4 432 1 783

Note 6. Other interest income and similar 
profit/loss items

2021 2020

Bank interest and result from currency  
transactions

1 260 784

Total 1 260 784

Note 7. Interest expense and similar 
profit/loss items

2021 2020

Interest charges and interest on overdue payment -3 408 -1 951

Gains/losses on currency transactions 0

Total -3 408 -1 951

Activities (with 
partners and within 

Diakonia) 1

Administra-
tion 1

Non-project fund-
raising

Other funds
provided

2

Total Total

2021 2020

Reserved funds for projects, 1 January 66 898 47 378

Raised funds for projects, 1 January 6 874 5 464

Public grants 377 693 25 947 403 640 484 796

Raised funds 10 631 769 48 807 60 207 70 959

Other revenues 1 773 1 773 2 659

Total revenues 2021 388 324 26 716 48 807 1 773 465 620 558 414

Middle East 45 753 45 753 54 458

Asia 57 582 57 582 59 184

Africa 199 580 199 580 264 815

Latin America 93 581 93 581 105 955

Global 25 200 37 013 62 213 60 127

Jointly 7 209 7 209 7 295

Total costs 2021 421 696 37 013 7 209 0 465 918 551 835

Result from operations -33 372 -10 297 41 598 1 773 -298 6 579

Net utilisation of earmarked funds 866 1 410

Net utilisation for projects 12 878 19 519

Reserved funds for projects, 31 December 
2021

79 775 66 898

Raised funds for projects, 31 December 2021 7 740 6 874

1 See Note 1. Accounting and valuation policies.
2 Share of Diakonia’s Other revenues provided to project funds.
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Note 10. Securities held as non-current assets

Holdings in funds and equivalent 2021 2020

Opening acquisition value 160 599 157 801

Acquisition 9 759 9 360

Sales -4 099 -6 562

Closing acquisition value 166 259 160 599

Closing carrying amount 166 259 160 599

Market value 192 642 180 920

2021 2021 2020 2020

Bokfört värde Marknadsvärde Bokfört värde Marknadsvärde

Banco Humanfond 10 699 25 536 10 955 20 415

Swedbank Robur SICA 439 1 802 534 731

Aktieansvar Sverige 22 86 395 1 474

Handelsbanken Lux 98 114 98 114

AktieAnsvar Europa 0 0 6 6

Penningmarknadsfonden 16 838 16 894 15 247 15 302

Nordea Kapitalfond 134 710 142 621 129 889 138 350

Nordea Institutionell Kortränta 161 162 161 161

SEB Fonder 3 293 5 427 3 293 4 343

Individual shares 0 0 23 23

Total 166 259 192 642 160 599 180 920

Since the end of 2009, Diakonia has had a contract with Nordea for the management of Diakonia’s securities.

Note 15. Salaries, other remuneration 
and social security contributions

2021 2020

Secretary General* 1 623 1 660

Employees in Sweden 42 414 36 407

Employees with an overseas contract 4 390 3 577

Employees with a local contract 69 130 71 555

Total salaries and other remuneration 117 556 113 199

*Salaries, employees in Sweden 28 973 26 035

Social security contributions for employees in Sweden 8 982 9 246

Pension costs for employees in Sweden 4 864 2 785

*Of which, the gross salary for the organization’s Secretary General was 
SEK 619 thousand (824), no agreed terms for termination of employment. 
Of total pension costs, the pension for the organization’s Secretary General 
accounted for SEK 613 thousand (460). The Secretary General’s gross salary 
at year-end was SEK 73.5 thousand (72)/month.The Secretary General has 
an agreement in which part of their gross salary is converted into pension 
payments. All staff with a Swedish contract of employment are covered by a 
collective agreement. The Chairperson of the Board is remunerated accord-
ing to a resolution of the 2019 Annual Meeting. Other members of the Board 
have not received remuneration from Diakonia for their work. Compensation 
may be paid for loss of income.

2021 2020

Salaries and other 
remuneration, by 
region:

Employees 
with a 

Swedish 
contract

All em-
ployees at 

Diakonia

Employees 
with a 

Swedish 
contract

All em-
ployees at 

Diakonia

Sweden 44 036 44 036 38 067 38 067

Middle East 0 13 253 157 12 538

Asia 1 219 8 082 1 049 7 832

Africa 1 635 33 895 1 313 36 108

Latin America 1 536 18 290 1 059 18 654

Total 48 426 117 556 41 644 113 199

Note 17. Average number of employees

2021 2020

Number of 
full-time 

equivalents

 Of which, 
men

Number of 
full-time 

equivalents

 Of which, 
men

Contract form

Employees in Sweden 54 23% 56 25%

Employees with a 
Swedish overseas 
contract

8 38% 6 26%

Number of employees 
with a local contract

214 39% 221 42%

Total 275 36% 283 38%

Geographic location

Sweden 54 23% 56 25%

Middle East 20 11% 20 16%

Asia 38 36% 37 29%

Africa 110 52% 115 58%

Latin America 54 24% 55 25%

Total 275 36% 283 38%

Board members and 
senior management

Number 
as per 

31/12/2021

Of which, 
men

Number 
as per 

31/12/2020

Of which, 
men

Board members 11 55% 7 43%

Secretary General and 
management team

11 36% 7 29%

Note 18. Estimates and assessments
Diakonia makes forward-looking estimates and assessments. At Diakonia, 
these assessments mainly concern unused grants. As a result, the accounting 
appraisals that are based on such estimates and assessments will, by their 
nature, rarely be reflected in actual outcomes.

Note 19. Significant events after the 
end of the fiscal year
The coronavirus pandemic continues to impact on the activities of Diakonia 
and its partner organizations in the first part of 2022. However, restrictions are 
easing as the spread of infection declines and staff are able to return to work 
in the offices. A flexible working approach is being tested at Head Office, with 
the possibility of working remotely some of the time. 

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has caused great suffering for the local popu-
lation and the largest wave of refugees in Europe since World War II. Diakonia 
works with the ACT Alliance global network and local partner organizations in 
Ukraine and neighbouring countries to provide humanitarian assistance. 

Following this autumn’s review of the organization and staffing of Head Office, 
management has developed a proposal for a new organization for Head Office, 
which will reduce costs. The proposal was negotiated with the unions in March, 
and the new organization is scheduled to come into force on 1 May 2022.  

Jakob Ämterlind stepped down as a member of Diakonia’s Board on 17 Feb-
ruary with immediate effect. This is because he will be employed at Diakonia’s 
Head Office for a period of time.

The recruitment of a new Head of the Fundraising and Communications De-
partment is underway, after the departure of the previous Head in December 
2021. The recruitment of a new Head of the Administration Department has 
been initiated, as the current Head will retire in the summer of 2022. Diakonia’s 
Head of Control has resigned and recruitment of a successor is underway. In 
Latin America, our new regional director started their contract in February, as 
the previous regional director’s contract ended in December.

Bromma, Sweden on 4 May 2022 

Pether Nordin Chairperson of the Board

Anette Drewitz Vice Chairperson 
Linnea Gullholmer
Göran Gunner
Oskar Permvall
Ulrika Erkenborn Rugumayo
Marie Lackenbauer
Mats Hårsmar
Mine Lon
Andreas Linderyd 
Lena Ingelstam, Secretary General

Erik Albenius, Authorised Public Accountant, PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Note 8. Non-current intangible assets

Change in value of software 2021 2020

Opening acquisition value 17 868 17 856

Capitalised expenditure for the year 0 12

Closing accumulated acquisition value 17 868 17 868

Opening depreciation -17 867 -17 856

Depreciation for the year -2 -11

Closing accumulated depreciation -17 868 -17 867

Closing residual value according to plan 0 1

Note 9. Property, plant and equipment
Capitalised expenditure for furniture 2021 2020

Opening acquisition value 6 565 6 318

Capitalised expenditure for the year 228 262

Disposals for the year -16

Closing accumulated acquisition value 6 793 6 564

Opening depreciation -6 422 -6 193

Translation difference 0

Depreciation for the year -251 -239

Disposals for the year 10

Closing accumulated depreciation -6 673 -6 422

Closing residual value according to plan 120 143

Note 11. Leasing

2021 2020

Leasing contracts Leasing fees Leasing fees

0–1 years 7 100 7 862

1–5 years 10 420 8 031

More than 5 years 4 313 1 956

Total 21 833 17 849

In 2021, leasing fees totalled SEK 7 419 thousand (8 834). The office in Nica-
ragua was closed in 2021, so there are no ongoing contracts. The presentation 
shows the 2021 lease amount by contract length. This differs from last year’s 
presentation, which also included projected amounts for future years.

Note 12. Prepaid expenses and accrued 
income

2021 2020

Prepaid rent 418 479

Accrued project revenues 6 974 25 117

Prepaid project expenses 446 392

Other items 1 520 536

Total 9 359 26 523

Note 13. Liabilities for grants received 
but not used

2021 2020

Project balance 79 775 66 898

Liabilities to financiers 123 123

Deferred project funds Sida 14 195 24 293

Deferred project funds EU 11 310 18 003

Deferred gender basket 27 037 19 291

Deferred project funds other 1 804 4 141

Total 134 245 132 749

Note 14. Provisions for pensions

2021 2020

Provisions outside the scope of the Swedish Pen-
sion Obligations Vesting Act*

22 080 17 452

*Pension commitments to local employees in local offices

Note 16. Accrued expenses and  
deferred income

2021 2020

Holiday pay 2 323 2 067

Accrued expenses, social security contribution 1 404 708

Special employer’s contribution 1 890 986

Other accrued expenses, personnel 1 602 3 332

Accrued project expenses 2 570 518

Other items 6 327 11 771

Total 16 116 19 382
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AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the annual meeting of Diakonia, corporate identity 
number 802017-3517
 
Report on the annual accounts

Opinions
I have audited the annual accounts of Diakonia for 2021. 
The annual accounts are included on pages 28-45 in this 
document.

In my opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the association 
as of 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and 
cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with the 
Annual Accounts Act. The statutory administration report is 
consistent with the other parts of the annual accounts.

Basis for Opinions
I conducted my audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing 
standards in Sweden. My responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
section. I am independent of the association in accordance 
with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have 
otherwise fulfilled my ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinions.

Other Information than the annual accounts and  
consolidated accounts
This document also contains other information than the annual 
accounts and can be found on pages 1-27 (Annual Report 
for 2021) and  pages 48-61 and 64-65 (Sustainability Report 
2021). It is the Board of Directors and Secretary General who 
have the responsibility for the other information.

My opinion on the annual accounts does not cover this 
other information and I do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion regarding this other information.

In connection with my audit of the annual accounts, my 
responsibility is to read the information identified above and 
consider whether the information is materially inconsistent 
with the annual accounts. In this procedure I also take into 
account my knowledge otherwise obtained in the audit and 
assess whether the information otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If I, based on the work performed concerning this 
information, conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, I am required to report that fact. I have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the  
Secretary General
The Board of Directors and Secretary General are responsible 
for the preparation of the annual accounts and that they give 

a fair presentation in accordance with the Annual Accounts 
Act. The Board of Directors and the Secretary General are 
also responsible for such internal control as they determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the annual accounts, The Board of Directors 
and the Secretary General are responsible for the assessment 
of the association’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
They disclose, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and the use of the going concern basis of accounting. The 
going concern basis of accounting is however not applied if 
the Board of Directors and the Secretary General intend to 
liquidate the association, to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the annual accounts as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes my opinions. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and 
generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these annual accounts. 

As a part of my audit according to ISA, I undertake 
professional judgments and have a professionally skeptical 
approach during the entire audit. In addition, I execute the 
following activities:
• I identify and assess the risk of material misstatement in 

the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and execute audit measures 
based, amongst other things, on these risks and obtain audit 
evidence which is sufficient and appropriate to comprise the 
basis of my opinion. The risk for failing to identify material 
misstatements arising due to fraud is greater as regards a 
material misstatement due to error, as fraud can include 
engagement in collusion, forgery, intentional omission, 
incorrect information or disregard of internal control

• I obtain an understanding of that portion of the Foundation’s 
internal control having significance to my audit to design 
audit measures which are appropriate with regard to 
the circumstances but I do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the internal control.

• I evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
applied and the reasonability of the Board of Director’s 
estimations in the accounts and associated disclosures.

• I test the appropriateness of the Board and Director’s 
application of the assumption of going concern in 
preparing the annual accounts. I test, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether there are significant factors of 
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uncertainty referring to such events or circumstances that 
can lead to significant doubt as to the association’s capacity 
to continue its operations. If I come to the conclusion that 
there are significant factors of uncertainty, I am required 
to provide a statement in the Auditor’s Report, noting that 
the disclosures in the annual accounts involve factors of 
uncertainty, provided that such information is insufficient, 
modifying my opinion regarding the annual accounts. My 
conclusions are based on the auditor’s evidence obtained up 
until the date of the Auditor’s Report. However, future events 
or circumstances can imply that the association can no 
longer continue its operations.  

• I evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the annual accounts, including the disclosures, and if the 
annual and consolidated accounts reflect the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner providing a true and 
fair view.

I am required to inform the Board of Directors of, amongst 
other things, the planned scope of the audit and its focus, and 
the time schedule for the audit. I am also required to inform on 
any significant observations made during the audit, including 
any identified significant deficiencies in the internal control.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements

Opinion
In addition to my audit of the annual accounts, I have also 
audited the administration of the Board of Directors of 
Diakonia for 2021. 

I recommend that the meeting of the association grant the 
members of the Board discharge from liability for the financial 
year.

Basis for Opinions
I conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. My responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
section. I am independent of the association in accordance 
with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have 
otherwise fulfilled my ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for the administration.

Auditor’s responsibility
My objective concerning the audit of the administration, 
and thereby my opinion about discharge from liability is to 
obtain audit evidence to assess with a reasonable degree 
of assurance whether any member of the Board of Directors 
in any material respect has undertaken any action or been 

guilty of any omission which can give rise to liability to the 
association. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always 
detect actions or omissions that can give rise to liability to the 
association. 

As part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. The examination of the administration is based 
primarily on the audit of the accounts. Additional audit 
procedures performed are based on my professional 
judgement with the starting point in risk and materiality. This 
means that I focus the examination on such actions, areas and 
relationships that are material for the operations and where 
deviations and violations would have particular importance 
for the association’s situation.  I examine and test decisions 
undertaken, support for decisions, actions taken and other 
circumstances that are relevant to my opinion.

Stockholm the day stated on my electronic signature

Erik Albenius
Authorized Public Accountant
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SUSTAINABILITY 
REPORT
All Diakonia’s work aims to achieve a just, equal 
and sustainable world. A world in which all people 
have equal access to basic rights, resources and 
opportunities, and where gender equality and 
equity prevail. 

Together with our partner organization Musasa, we work to counter sexual and gender-based violence in Zimbabwe. Beauty Rundogo is a 
survivor of sexual violence and lives in our refuge. Photo: Anna Hugosson.

Sustainability in Diakonia
Sustainability is the foundation of our long-term 
development work, emergency response, advocacy 
and mobilisation. 

Together with our partner organizations around 
the world, we influence decision makers and 
empower rights holders – especially women and 
other marginalised groups – to escape from 
poverty and oppression themselves. 

We work with emergency response in areas 
in which we are already present to ensure 
local knowledge. We prioritise the visibility 
and promotion of women’s perspectives and 
experiences to achieve the best results. 

The basic causes of poverty, violence and 
oppression are often found in unjust global political 
and economic structures. That is why we are also 

engaged in political advocacy work in Sweden and 
the EU. Our work also involves ensuring that people 
in Sweden are engaged to spread knowledge on 
global development work, our work in the world 
and our overarching issues. That is how we believe 
sustainable change is possible.

Diakonia works for peaceful, resilient societies 
that use the Earth’s resources in a sustainable 
way. This includes a commitment to work on global 
climate challenges and the unsustainable use of 
natural resources. We need equitable solutions that 
recognise that the climate crisis is mainly caused 
by wealthy countries and that the consequences 
of climate change, environmental destruction and 
violent conflict risk exacerbating inequality and 
poverty, particularly in poor countries.  

About this report:

Since 2017, Diakonia has reported its sustainability work in accordance with legislation on sustainability reporting. 

The Sustainability Report is inspired by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), a framework for sustainability reporting. 

The report covers all Diakonia’s work in Sweden and internationally. It was produced by Diakonia’s management team 

and has been approved by the Board of Directors. It forms part of the Annual Report and is covered by PWC’s audit in 

accordance with the Swedish Institute of Authorised Public Accountants’ recommendation REVR 12. The report is presented 

to the Annual Meeting, Diakonia’s highest governing body. This report refers to the 2021 year of activity. 
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The three main areas of  
sustainability work:  

Economic responsibility
Diakonia’s funds should be used in the 
best possible way. They are to contrib-

ute to sustainable change for the people 
whose rights are not being respected. 

We take responsibility for the resources 
allocated to Diakonia, present results 
openly and welcome complaints when 

we fall short of our commitments so that 
we can improve. 

Social responsibility
Diakonia’s activities promote universally 

recognised human rights, so that all 
people can live a life free from poverty 
and oppression. We put people whose 
rights are not respected at the centre 

of all our work and take their needs into 
account. Diakonia takes responsibility 

as an employer and promotes an 
inclusive, healthy and safe workplace 
characterised by our values and the 

sense of being one Diakonia. 

Responsibility for the environment  
Climate change is a threat to human 

survival, and its effects are felt the most in 
poor countries. This is why Diakonia works 
with organizations striving for sustainable 

development and climate justice and 
promoting resilience and adaptability. 

We also strive to minimise Diakonia’s own 
negative impact on the environment. 

The UN Sustainable 
Development Goals in 
the 2030 Agenda
Diakonia supports and works to contribute to the 
achievement of the 17 UN Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs) in the 2030 Agenda. The 2030 
Agenda enhances opportunities for long-term 
sustainable economic, social and environmental 
change and to demand that countries’ governments 
meet their commitments. The 17 Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs) aim to end all forms of 
poverty, combat inequalities and inequities, promote 
peace and justice and tackle climate change, 
while ensuring that everyone, particually the most 
vulnerable, is included in societal development. 
As a universally adopted commitment, the 2030 
Agenda can be used to drive forward the demands 
of rights holders and partner organizations. Local 
participation and engagement are vital in terms of 
achieving these goals. Diakonia’s work, as described 
in the Global Strategy for 2021 onwards, primarily 
contributes to Sustainable Development Goals 1, 2, 
5, 8, 10, 13, 16 and 17. 

How we manage our  
sustainability work
Diakonia is committed to ensuring that our humanitarian, development and 
advocacy work is conducted in a transparent and accountable manner in 
relation to rights holders, partner organizations, local communities and other 
stakeholders. 

All activities shall be based on the two guiding 
principles: rights-based work and the feminist 
principles of Diakonia. Policies and guidelines 
provide support and guidance in day-to-day work, 
and the organization strives to be accountable 
for these commitments. Since 2021, these 
commitments and perspectives have also been 
reinforced in Diakonia’s agreements with partner 
organizations. Training and capacity building 
on relevant topics (e.g. anti-corruption, internal 
control system, child protection, and prevention 
of and protection against sexual harassment, 
exploitation and abuse) are part of Diakonia’s 
activities internally as well as with our partner 
organizations.

Diakonia is certified to the Core Humanitarian 
Standard (CHS), which ensures that we have robust 
systems and processes in place in which quality 
and transparency are cornerstones.

Planning, follow-up, evaluation and learning
Diakonia’s guidelines for planning, follow-up, 
evaluation and learning are its most important 
steering document for internal control. Our 
governance aims to ensure that funds are used 
appropriately and that we achieve the expected 
results. Our methods provide us with the capability 
to identify, integrate and adapt our work based 
on the lessons we learn. We quality-assure all 
processes to ensure they are efficient and fit for 
purpose. This also ensures reliable accounting and 
compliance with laws and regulations. 

To follow up on the organization’s commitments, 
Diakonia has adopted several frameworks, steering 
documents and guidelines. 

Due to climate change, Daw Shwe Sar in Myanmar could no 
longer run her farm. With our partner MBC, she learned about 
sustainable agriculture and is now able to support her family 
again. Photo: Diakonia.

Area  Steering document 

Overall policy and strategies 

Diakonia’s statutes 

Global policy 

Global strategy 

Global operational plan

Order of delegation 

Gender equality policy

PMEL Handbook 

Humanitarian policy 

Global risk assessment   

Economic responsibility    

Investment policy 

Global framework for resource 

mobilisation 

Procurement guidelines  

Guidelines for financial and admin-

istrative follow-up  

Social responsibility  

Code of Conduct  

HR policy 

Global employment terms  

Anti-corruption guidelines 

Work environment policy  

Child protection policy  

Complaints and incident handling 

policy and guidelines

Transparency and accountability 

guidelines  

Policy to combat sexual harassment 

and abuse 

Guidelines for using a feminist 

framework for Diakonia’s gender 

equality work 

Environmental responsibility  

Environmental policy  

Environmental commitment  

implementation plan  
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How we ensure ethics, integrity and  
accountability in our organization   
We have a Code of Conduct
The purpose of Diakonia’s Code of Conduct is to 
describe employees’ and external consultants’ 
responsibilities in relation to the people for whom 
Diakonia works. The Code of Conduct seeks to 
help Diakonia’s employees understand how they 
are expected to behave and what obligations 
they have. Everyone representing Diakonia must 
behave in accordance with our Code of Conduct 
and applicable legislation. Everyone is also obliged 
to prevent irregularities such as corruption, fraud, 
sexual exploitation and abuse, and to ensure 
that no child is harmed. Managers at all levels at 
Diakonia are responsible for all staff being aware 
of the content of the Code of Conduct and how it 
should be applied. 

We work with risk management
The purpose of Diakonia’s risk management is to 
work in a systematic way to identify, analyse and 
manage risks that may prevent the fulfilment of the 
organization’s objectives. Every year, risk analyses 
are conducted by the Board of Directors, the 
management team, Head Office and regional and 
country offices, taking both internal and external 
factors into consideration. Diakonia uses the COSO 
model, a global framework for risk analysis and risk 

management, to calculate the severity of a risk for 
its organization.

In 2021, the most serious risks at the global level 
were the negative trend of shrinking democratic 
space in several partner countries and the security 
risks that have arisen as a result. Corruption and 
financial risks, as well as risks related to Diakonia’s 
financial sustainability, have also been classed as 
serious in the previous year. 

We’re working to combat corruption 
Diakonia operates in countries where the risk 
of corruption is high. That is why it is important 
that our operations are characterised by a 
high professional standard as regards fighting 
corruption. Corruption ultimately affects 
individuals, especially women and children, and is 
one of the biggest obstacles to progress towards a 
gender-equal world. Achieving the UN Sustainable 
Development Goals will not be possible without 
fighting corruption in all its forms, including 
Illicit Financial Flows (IFFs), which is a broader 
concept that includes corruption, tax avoidance 
and other criminal flows. We are convinced that 
civil society has an important role to play in 
monitoring, scrutinising and combatting corruption 
globally. An important part of our advocacy 

work, our programmes and our work is therefore 
to strengthen partner organizations. Diakonia 
has aimed to strengthen its internal capacity 
for internal control focusing on risk analysis and 
risk management, and to prevent corruption. We 
have adopted principles and guidelines that form 
the organization’s framework for anti-corruption 
efforts. This includes internal training and work 
on internal and external review and monitoring of 
projects and country and regional offices. 

Complaints mechanism and incident 
management 
The complaints mechanism is a tool with defined 
procedures and decision-making processes 
established by Diakonia. It allows everyone to 
safely provide feedback and raise concerns and 
report breaches of Diakonia’s commitments. In 
this way, we can address and learn from cases 
that have been handled. A policy and guidelines 
controlling and regulating the handling of 
complaints and incidents was updated and 
approved by the Board of Diakonia in 2021. 

Shortcomings regarding commitments can be 
reported in different ways, for example directly 
to our staff, in local complaint reporting systems 
or via a whistleblowing system on Diakonia’s 
website. There is also the possibility to file a report 
anonymously if you wish. The management team 
at Diakonia’s Head Office is regularly informed 
and updated on all ongoing cases at Diakonia and 
participates in the decision-making process on 
each case. 

In 2021, the number of reported cases decreased 
compared to previous years. Diakonia received 
17 new cases and had a balance of 12 cases from 
2020, totalling 29 cases. Of the 29 cases, 22 
concerned partners and 7 concerned Diakonia staff.

Diakonia closed 20 cases (15 partner-related 
and five staff-related) in 2021, despite constraints 
and delays in investigation processes caused by 
COVID-19 restrictions. Five of the 15 partner-related 
cases resulted in the termination of the partnership 
due to irregularities. Seven of the partner cases 
have been postponed until 2022 for finalisation.

Of the seven staff-related cases, five were closed 
in 2021. Disciplinary action was taken in three cases, 
two cases were acquitted and two cases will be 
postponed until 2022 for finalisation.

Demonstrations on International Women’s Day 2021 in Colombia.  
Photo: Diakonia

Our priority areas  
Diakonia, in collaboration with partner 
organizations, rights holders and other 
stakeholders, has assessed and selected the 
sustainability issues that are most relevant to 
Diakonia. The analysis and assessment is reviewed 
every year to see if anything needs to be adjusted. 
The aspects that have been identified as most 
essential for Diakonia’s sustainability work have 
been grouped into three areas of responsibility: 
economic, environmental and social.  

Rights holders All people are rights holders. But Diakonia works 
for people who do not have their basic human 
rights respected. The rights holders are the main 
driving force for change.

Partner  
organizations

NGOs working with rights holders for sustainable 
change. This can be at local, national, regional 
and international level.

Founding churches The founding churches are the Uniting Church in 
Sweden and the Swedish Alliance Mission. They 
appoint the members of Diakonia’s Board and 
provide Diakonia with a mandate and legitimacy. 

Supporters and  
volunteers in 
Sweden 

Include congregations, delegates and individuals 
in Sweden. They form the basis for our advocacy 
work in Sweden and provide support for our 
global work. 

Networks and alli-
ances

Platforms on which civil society can coordinate, 
exchange knowledge and experience and work 
together on advocacy issues. The platforms can 
be at local, national and global level. 

Decision-makers 
and officials

People who work in institutions with power, such 
as government agencies, ministries and political 
parties. They are responsible for compliance with 
legal and formal requirements. Their positions 
and power are instrumental in creating a just, 
sustainable and equal world. 

Private sector Businesses of all sizes that can contribute to, or 
inhibit, sustainable development and respect for 
human rights. 

Private and  
institutional donors

Institutions, congregations, companies and 
individuals that help provide funding for 
Diakonia’s operations. 

Diakonia’s  
employees

All Diakonia’s employees worldwide contribute to 
change in their different roles and positions.

Suppliers Companies that provide Diakonia with goods and 
services that are needed to run its activities. The 
sustainability aspect is an important criterion 
when choosing suppliers. 

Media Editorial boards and individual journalists/
reporters that are in a position to spread 
Diakonia’s message and to influence public 
opinion. 

Diakonia’s stakeholders
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ECONOMIC  
RESPONSIBILITY
For Diakonia, economic sustainability includes compliance with legislation, 
ensuring that fundraising and resource mobilisation take place in an efficient 
and ethical manner, that finances and activities are managed and monitored in 
a transparent and correct way, and that procedures and control mechanisms 
are in place and utilised. 

Financial performance
Diakonia’s financial performance is set out in the 
annual accounts on pages 28–45.  

Socially responsible investments
Diakonia’s investment policy emphasises the need 
to consider environmental, social and ethical 
aspects in its investments. Diakonia actively rejects 

and refuses to invest in activities involving arms, 
pornography, alcohol, tobacco and fossil energy 
sources. In addition, Diakonia works to influence 
companies and banks to take responsibility and 
improve their work in areas such as human rights, 
working conditions, environmental issues and 
corruption. 

Financial sustainability 
All resource mobilisation within Diakonia shall 
contribute to the priorities of the global strategy 
and the resource mobilisation strategy, in 
accordance with the organization’s overall 
ethical approach. The work should be based on 
local and regional plans and priorities, as well 
as the guidelines for Swedish fundraising and 
communication. The objectives for Diakonia’s 
financial sustainability are an increased degree of 
diversification of funds, as well as reinforced efforts 
for cost efficiency and risk awareness in contract 
management. An important sub-goal of this work is 
to increase the gifts and donations collected from 
private donors. In 2021–2023, Diakonia is therefore 
making an extra effort to mobilise resources and 
engage private and institutional donors.

Procurement practices 
Diakonia’s procurement guidelines were updated in 
2021. The guidelines are to apply to all purchases 
for which Diakonia funds are used to pay for 
goods and consultancy services. The guidelines 
help Diakonia’s staff ensure that purchases are 
as transparent, fair, environmentally friendly 
and cost-efficient as possible. All suppliers are to 
adhere to Diakonia’s procurement principles. The 
procurement guidelines are linked to Diakonia’s 
anti-corruption work. When an employee applies 
the guidelines, this also serves as insurance against 
unethical or corrupt actions when negotiating or 
purchasing goods from suppliers.  

Diakonia’s procurements shall be made with 
respect for and protecting human rights in 
accordance with the conventions defined in the 
International Labour Standards of the International 
Labour Organization ILO. Diakonia has made a 
political decision that all its initiatives should be 
based on feminist principles and contribute to 
gender equality. For procurement, this means 
applying a gender perspective to the design, 
implementation, monitoring and evaluation of 
procurement processes. Sustainable use of natural 
resources and protection of the environment are 
fundamental to Diakonia. In procurement, and 
wherever justified, Diakonia shall include, to the 
greatest extent possible, environmentally sound 
products and/or services when formulating criteria 
and requirements. 

Breakdown of revenues 
for Diakonia: 

Distribution of public 
funds:

Sida Civsam  
(Unit for Support to 
Civil Society) (39%)

Sida Info (1%)

Sida Latin America 
(1%)

Sida (Unit for  
Humanitarian  
Assistance) (2%)

Development  
cooperation  
departments based 
at Swedish embassies 
(Ministry for Foreign 
Affairs) (44%)

EU (8%)

Foreign  
embassies (1%)

Other financiers (2%)

Operational expenses 
distributed by region

47%
Africa

22%
Latin America

11%
Middle East

6%
Sweden and 

globally

14%
Asia

SEK 
404 m 

SEK  
60 m 

Public grants Raised funds

SEK 
404 m 

Diakonia’s 
operational  

expenses totalled 
SEK 421 million  

in 2021.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
For Diakonia, social responsibility means that all activities are imbued with a 
rights perspective and are based on feminist principles. It increases the chances 
of tackling the structural causes of poverty and contributing to an equal world. 
Diakonia’s humanitarian work is governed by the humanitarian principles of 
humanity, impartiality, neutrality and independence. 

Diakonia believes in people’s ability to bring about positive change together. 
When we come together we can change the world. Our staff are our greatest 
asset, and we want to foster a culture based around our core values – solidarity, 
justice, courage, commitment and accountability, and the sense of being one 
Diakonia. 

Diakonia as an employer – one Diakonia. 

People are changing the world!

Globally, Diakonia has 275 employees. The majority are  
local employees in the country in which they work.  
Diakonia has its Head Office in Sweden and a few Swedes 
serving abroad.

Gender equality 
Diakonia’s gender equality policy was adopted 
by the Board in 2021. Our gender equality work is 
based on the principle that all people, regardless of 
sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or gender 
expression, should have the power, knowledge 
and resources to help shape their own lives and 
the society they live in. We want to counter the 
destructive use of power where we operate and 
review our own methods. Our goal is to work in 
accordance with feminist principles to identify and 
counter patriarchal values in our own work, in the 
religious tradition and in society at large. 

Continuously strengthening the capacity of 
Diakonia staff to apply feminist principles, engage 
in constructive dialogue with partner organizations 
and implement gender-responsive budgeting is the 
key to transformative work for gender equality. In 
2021, important steps forward were made in these 
areas.  

For example, we worked to ensure that our 
programme work is based on feminist analyses 
of the world and of power and that we are an 
even better ally to our partner organizations, 
particularly feminist and other gender equality 
organizations. Diakonia supports specific 
gender equality projects and promotes gender 
mainstreaming in all other projects.  

Diakonia has also worked to ensure that all 
our policy messages and advocacy work are 
based on a feminist gender analysis and aim to 

improve gender equality. We support the gender 
mainstreaming of partner organizations’ advocacy 
work aimed at influencing policies and institutions 
that shape the conditions of people living in 
poverty and oppression. 

Work environment
The work environment is a shared responsibility, 
with us all contributing to Diakonia being an 
inclusive, healthy and safe workplace that is 
characterised by our values and the sense of 
being one Diakonia. All employees should be given 
the opportunity to influence their work situation 
and are expected to contribute to a good work 
environment. 

Managers have delegated responsibility for the 
work environment, and work must be organized to 
promote physical, psychosocial and organizational 
health. Diakonia conducts systematic work 
environment management in which we investigate, 
remedy and follow up work environment issues. One 
way in which we do this is through department-
specific work environment plans produced in 
collaboration between employers and employees 
and based on the global employee survey.

Diakonia wants to promote a good work-life 
balance and offers shortened working hours, a 
wellness allowance, a wellness hour (during working 
hours) and a favourable annual leave agreement.

Leadership
Clear and inclusive leadership is the foundation for 
creating a healthy work environment in which we 
work together towards and achieve our common 
goals. Diakonia is actively working to develop and 
implement tools and processes that make it easier 
for managers to lead and manage in a consistent 
way. Leadership at Diakonia must be shaped by 
our core values and contribute to a culture of being 
one Diakonia. 

Skills supply
Competent and committed staff are the most 
important factor in achieving our goals. We are 
actively working to attract, retain and develop our 
staff by developing our skills supply chain processes. 
The processes are designed and developed to be 
up-to-date, user-friendly and functional so that they 
can support managers and employees. 

Skills development is an important part of the 
skills supply chain. Diakonia has adopted global 
guidelines for skills development and is a member 
of the ACTLearn e-learning platform. The aim is to 
strengthen systematic learning and improve the 
dissemination and exchange of knowledge within 
the organization. 

Diversity, equal treatment and non-
discrimination
At Diakonia, we believe that the different 
perspectives, experiences and skills of our 
employees are an asset. We work actively to 
be an inclusive and diverse workplace in which 
all employees are given the opportunity to 
exert an influence and contribute. Our gender 
equality policy provides clear guidelines that 
Diakonia’s staff should be characterised by 
diversity in terms of sex/gender, sexuality, and 
ethnic, religious, social and cultural backgrounds, 
including disability. This is in line with the 
feminist and human rights-based principle of 
non-discrimination. Above all, we can see that it 
enriches our perspectives and capacities as actors 
in development work. Our employment conditions, 
salaries, recruitment and promotion processes 
must be free from discrimination. Discussions on 
attitudes, experiences and commitment related to 
feminist principles and gender equality must be 
included in recruitment, induction, promotion and 
performance review processes. Diakonia’s Policy on 
Protection from Sexual Harassment, Exploitation 
and Abuse, as well as its Code of Conduct, reflect 
further commitments by Diakonia to protect staff 
and rights holders from gender-based violence 
and harmful behaviour. The complaints and 
incident management mechanism is an important 
tool for dealing with breaches and holding those 

64%
women

36%
men

Gender distribution among Diakonia’s employees in 2021. 

110
Africa

54
Latin America

20
Middle East

38
Asia

54
Sweden

275 
full-time 

employees

8

Employees with a Swedish 
overseas contract

214

Employees with a 
local contract
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responsible to account. 
In 2021, work began to introduce a global 

recruitment process that, together with a new 
recruitment system, will help us promote diversity, 
equal treatment and non-discrimination. In 2022, a 
global salary policy will also be introduced, which 
aims to contribute to equal treatment, diversity 
and non-discrimination by ensuring that the same 
distinct criteria for setting salaries apply to all 
employees worldwide. 

Perceptions of discrimination are investigated 
and monitored through a global employee survey. 
Diakonia also has an incident management system 
in which employees can report experiences of 
discrimination. 

Since 2018 Diakonia has had a procedure in 

place in Sweden to annually follow up on and 
evaluate how the organization is working with 
equal treatment. This work is based on the Swedish 
Discrimination Act. In 2022, the possibility of 
introducing similar practices in other countries in 
which Diakonia operates will be reviewed.  

In Sweden, Diakonia works with annual salary 
mapping to investigate and address unreasonable 
differences in pay between men and women. In 
2022, we will review the possibility of introducing 
similar practices in other countries in which 
Diakonia operates. 

Security
Diakonia works in countries and contexts in which 
security procedures are crucial for conducting 
activities in a responsible and secure manner with 
respect to staff, partner organizations and rights 
holders. In the Diakonia Global Employee Survey 
conducted in 2019, security was identified as a 
particularly important area to prioritise and develop. 
In 2020 and 2021, a global security framework was 
developed that will be implemented in all countries 
in which Diakonia operates. The framework is an 
important part of Diakonia’s efforts to improve 
the security of staff and partner organizations. 
Examples of security procedures include locally 
adapted analysis and contingency plans, digital 
security training, travel instructions with risk 
analysis, incident reporting and a Code of Conduct. 

Public awareness and trust
Diakonia works on the basis of the 
principles of accountability and openness 
and strives to communicate clearly and 
openly. The aim is to make it clear to 
supporters, donors, government agencies, 
partner organizations, rights holders, staff 
and the general public who we are, how we 
work, how financial resources are used and 
how results are achieved.

In Somalia, elections were held in 2021. Diakonia supported campaigns to spread awareness and increase participation. Photo: Diakonia

RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
THE ENVIRONMENT
Diakonia believes that the climate crisis is a global issue that affects all people 
without exception. However, climate change disproportionately affects certain 
groups, including the target groups we work with, due to structural inequalities. 

By implementing our environmental policy and 
working on the basis of a long-term implementation 
plan, Diakonia takes environmental responsibility 
in our offices and through our programmes. The 
implementation plan defines global objectives, 
activities and indicators to facilitate joint planning, 
implementation, monitoring and learning in the 
field of environment and climate. In all our offices, 
we strive to raise environmental awareness and 
create sustainable solutions so we can practise 
what we preach. We believe we have made some 
progress in 2021, but still have many steps to take 
to reach our goals.

Carbon footprint from travel
Diakonia is an international organization with 
operations in 26 countries. The work requires 
travel both within and between countries. When 
travelling, priority is given to means of transport 
that have less impact on the environment. All 
staff report flight kilometres, so CO2

 emissions 
are calculated on that basis. Diakonia prioritises 
reducing emissions and supporting communities 
to build their resilience rather than investing in 
carbon offset schemes. In 2021, the coronavirus 
pandemic continued to affect Diakonia’s planning. 
Various activities had to be rescheduled, such as 
major events and field visits. This had a negative 
impact on the work with our partner organizations 
and rights holders, especially in terms of making 
people’s voices heard and sharing experiences 
to fight climate change and environmental 
destruction. At the same time, we have seen a 
positive trend in the visibility and importance of 
young people among our rights holders as they 
increasingly use digital spaces to make their 
voices heard, including against climate change. 

The pandemic has also forced us – in a positive 
way – to find new, more climate-friendly ways to 
meet and monitor our activities, such as the use 
of digital solutions. This has led to a reduction in 
air travel in all regions and countries. We conclude 
that the pandemic will also lead to changes in 
travel habits in the longer term. At the same time, 
we can see that physical meetings will continue to 
be needed to ensure the long-term sustainability of 
our operations.

Diakonia started measuring the number of flight 
kilometres per employee per year in 2018. The 
statistics from 2019 are used as a baseline, as it 
was the first year that the measurement method 

Flight kilometres

Comment: 2021 was another exceptional year, mainly due 

to the pandemic, with a 19% reduction in emissions from 

flights compared to the previous year and an 87% reduction 

compared to 2019. In the longer term, one effect of the 

pandemic is a positive change in travel habits. The local visits 

are necessary to build One Diakonia and to provide the best 

support to partner organizations and rights holders, but 

travel can always be optimised through better planning and 

by using alternative ways of working and communicating, 

such as having digital meetings. Our long-term goal is to 

reduce our carbon footprint by 50% compared to 2019.

201920202021

Number of km:  
2 947 473

Emissions Tonnes 
of CO

2
: 1 432

Number of km: 
457 069

Emissions Tonnes 
of CO

2
: 222

Number of km: 
368 857 

Emissions Tonnes 
of CO

2
:  179
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was used over a full year. 2020 was an abnormal 
year due to the coronavirus pandemic. 

Positive environmental impact
In 2021, we saw important progress in this area. 
Diakonia recruited an environmental and climate 
advisor to boost efforts in this area, with a focus 
on programmes. Diakonia’s new environmental 
analysis and integration tool was completed, and 
country office staff were trained. Several country 
offices, including in Cambodia and Somalia, 
have already successfully started to use this 
tool in their programmes, strengthening their 
efforts to integrate environmental and climate 
considerations into their operations. In recent 
years, Diakonia has supported approximately 
50 partner organizations and projects that focus 
on the environment or climate. Diakonia and our 
partner organizations have increasingly worked 
on building resilience and climate adaptation 
in our development work, and on disaster risk 
reduction in emergency response. We have been 

active in various networks related to the climate 
change issue. We are part of the ACT Alliance’s 
Climate Justice Network, the Swedish Network 
for Disaster Risk and Resilience, CONCORD’s 
Working Party on Environment and Climate Law, 
and GeMiNI (Gender and Environment Network). 
We are constantly working to build our capacity 
regarding climate change and its impacts, both 
internally and among partner organizations. 
Examples of initiatives we supported in 2021 
included strengthening the capacity of both 
female and male farmers in climate-smart and 
local farming techniques. This helped increase 
their knowledge, strengthen their finances and 
improve their food security. We have also helped 
to strengthen the capacity of local communities to 
mitigate the risks and vulnerabilities arising from 
disasters (such as floods, cyclones, landslides and 
droughts). We have also supported indigenous 
peoples’ organizations to reinforce environmental 
and climate change perspectives in their demands 
for land rights.

Yen Saren participates in Diakonia’s project in Cambodia to promote farmers’ rights to food and land. Photo: Chris Cusick

New knowledge brings in-
come and self-confidence 
In Bangladesh, we are working with BARCIK (Bangladesh Resource Centre 
for Indigenous Knowledge) to empower people through education. In areas 
particularly affected by climate change and where poverty is widespread, 
we provide training in organic farming methods, so that small communities 
are better equipped.  

Rafiza Begum is one of the individuals who 
has participated in the project. When Rafiza’s 
husband became chronically ill, the family 
found itself in a difficult financial situation, as 
what he earned was the family’s only source of 
income.  

Rafiza came into contact with the 
project and received training in organic 
and sustainable agriculture. With her new 
knowledge, her confidence grew. Since the 
family does not own land, Rafiza decided 
to rent a larger piece of land to enable her 
to grow more. Thanks to newly acquired 
knowledge about which vegetables have a 
greater market demand, she was able to adapt 
her farm operations. She and her family now 
live off the sale of her crops, and she can also 
pay for her husband’s care. In addition to the 
drastic increase in Rafiza’s income, she is also 
able to meet the family’s need for nutritious 
food – and her children don’t get sick as often. 

“The project has not only provided me with a 
livelihood, it has also helped me regain my self-
confidence. Now I’m happy with my life, and I 
have the skills, experience and competence to 
continue growing.” 

In addition, she can now save money every 
month, which she plans to use to further 
expand her farmland. The right information, 
education and support can make a big 
difference. 
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on the statutory sustainability report

THE AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the annual meeting of Diakonia, corporate 
identity number 802017-3517
 
Engagement and responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for that the 
statutory sustainability report for 2021 on pages 
48-61 and 64-65 has been prepared in accordance 
with the Annual Accounts Act.

The scope of the audit
Our examination of the statutory sustainability 
report has been conducted in accordance 
with FAR´s auditing standard RevR 12 The 
auditor´s report on the statutory sustainability 
report. This means that our examination of 
the statutory sustainability report is different 
and substantially less in scope than an audit 
conducted in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing and generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. We believe that the 
examination has provided us with sufficient basis 
for our opinion.

Opinion
A statutory sustainability report has been 
prepared.

Stockholm the day stated on my electronic 
signature

Erik Albenius
Authorized Public Accountant
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GRI Content Index
Below, Diakonia's reporting is presented in a GRI index according to GRI standards in the Global 
Reporting Initiative GRI Core guidelines, and Diakonia's own areas.

Organizational profile Sidanvisning

GRI 102-1 Name of the organisation 1, 5, 29

GRI 102-2 Activities, brands, product and services 4, 5, 6, 15-27, 29

GRI 102-3 Location of headquarters 8, 9, 34, 37

GRI 102-4 Location of operations 5, 8, 9, 37

GRI 102-5 Ownership and legal form 5, 29, 34, 35, 
36, 37

GRI 102-6 Markets served 5, 6, 8, 9, 11-13, 
14-27, 29, 31-33, 
34, 49

GRI 102-7 Scale of the organisation 4-6, 8-9, 29, 33, 
54-55

GRI 102-8 Information on employees and other workers 34, 41, 45, 56-57

GRI 102-9 Supply chain 53

GRI 102-10 Significant changes to the organization and its supply chain 29-31

GRI 102-11 Precautionary Principle or approach 51-53

GRI 102-12 Externally developed economic, environmental and social charters, principles, or other initiatives to which 
the organisation subscribes or which it endorse

4, 29, 30, 34, 37, 
50, 51

GRI 102-13 Memberships of associations 37

Strategy 

GRI 102-14 Statement from Secretary General 2

Ethics and integrity

GRI 102-16 The organisations values, principles, standards and norms of behaviour 4-6, 29, 33-34, 
48-51

Governance

GRI 102-18 Governance structure 35-37

Stakeholder engagement

GRI 102-40 List of stakeholder groups 53

GRI 102-41 Collective bargaining agreements 45

GRI 102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders 5-6, 29, 31-32, 51

GRI 102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 5-7, 29, 31-32, 
49, 51, 53

GRI 102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 50-51, 53-60

Reporting practice

GRI 102-45 Entities included in the organisation's consolidated financial statements 37

GRI 102-46 Defining report content and topic Boundaries 49, 53

GRI 102-47 List of material topics 33-34, 38-45, 
53-61

GRI 102-48 Restatements of information No changes

GRI 102-49 Changes in reporting No changes

GRI 102-50 Reporting period 49

GRI 102-51 Date of most recent report aug-21

GRI 102-52 Reporting cycle 49

GRI 102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report 2

GRI 102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the GRI standards 49

GRI 102-55 GRI content index 64-65

GRI 102-56 External assurance 62

Economic performance

GRI 201: Economic Performance

GRI 103:1 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 49, 54-55

GRI 103:2 The management approach and its components 49, 54-55

GRI 103:3 Evaluation of the management approach 38-45, 50, 54-55

GRI 201-4 Financial assistance received from government 43, 55

GRI 205: Anti-corruption

GRI 103:1 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 49-53

GRI 103:2 The management approach and its components 49-53

GRI 103:3 Evaluation of the management approach 49-53

GRI 205-1 Operations assessed for risks related to corruption 49-53

GRI 205:2 Communication and training about anti-corruption policies and procedures 49-53

GRI 205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken 53

Environmental 

GHG emissions

GRI 103:1 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 49-50, 59-60

GRI 103:2 The management approach and its components 49-50, 59-60

GRI 103:3 Evaluation of the management approach 49-50, 59-60

GRI 305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions 59

Social

GRI 403: Occupational Health and Safety 

GRI 103:1 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 49-50, 56-57

GRI 103:2 The management approach and its components 49-50, 56-57

GRI 103:3 Evaluation of the management approach 49-50, 56-57

GRI 403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident investigation 52-53, 58

GRI 404: Training and Education 

GRI 103:1 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 49-50, 56-57

GRI 103:2 The management approach and its components 49-50, 56-57

GRI 103:3 Evaluation of the management approach 49-50, 56-57
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Diakonia is a member of the

Cover image. 11-year-old Asma lives in a refugee camp in 

Lebanon. In this vulnerable environment, she is forced to work 

selling handkerchiefs. But every morning, she and her three 

sisters attend the children’s centre, run by Diakonia’s partner 

Dar Al Amal. At the centre, she can play and receive tuition and 

psychological support.


